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Ghostbusters
   Cabbage Patch Kid   
    Filofax
          Madonna
               Tucker’s Luck

Our holiday this year was in the exotic location of Butlins Pwllheli, North Wales.  Jeannette and I were going with Fiona & Russ, baby Jamie and his cousin Gregor, from Scotland, who was about 9 year’s old.  Fiona lived in Cheadle, which is in Staffordshire.  We had to catch a National Express coach from Middlesbrough to Leeds, then change at Leeds and catch another coach to Hanley, where Russ met us. We travelled to Butlins in dad’s Caravette that Russ was looking after while they’re in Hong Kong.  We arrived in sunny Pwllheli, but nearly had a disaster before the holiday even started.  Gregor had got out of the Caravette but left his hand in the door, someone (I can’t remember who) closed the sliding door right onto his hand, ouch! Fortunately kids seem to have rubber fingers and no breakages were incurred, however, not an advisable thing to do. 
It was your usual Butlins fare, Table Tennis, Fun Fair, Snooker, Bingo, Red Coat entertainment, Donkey Derby, Outdoor Swimming Pool -5º, crap chalet accommodation, celebrity Z-list Comedian (Bobby Knutt).  Fiona had a reputation as a bit of a gambler, so every day it was down to the Entertainment complex at 6 pm to purchase the Bingo Tickets then ‘Eyes Down’ at 7 pm.  They had a camera and a big screen to show the numbers called, but the camera operator thought it would be a funny to show a poor unsuspecting girl’s, Big Boobs and cleavage on the screen.  We all had a good laugh at this girl’s expense, when Fiona suddenly realised they were her tits on show to the whole of Butlins Pwllheli!
While at Butlins it was Jeannette’s 18th Birthday and what better way to spend it than entering a British Seaside Holiday Camp Beauty Competition?  They were holding a ‘MISS GLOW GIRL’ beauty pageant, in the Main Ballroom.  I could hardly control Jeannette’s desire to take part!  Not!  Fortunately she’d brought along a slinky Black Dress, well I’m not sure about slinky, but it was definitely black. To go with the dress she had white accessories, belt, handbag, necklace, earrings and she nicked some snooker referee’s gloves. Her hairstyle was what you’d call 80’s.  I can’t remember how many took part, but judging from the picture below, I can’t imagine it was many more than 3!  I think I could’ve got 3rd place and given 2nd place a good run for her money (surely she didn’t buy that hat).  However Jeannette wore her Gold Sash with pride and this victory was only the start.  A couple of weeks later were the Miss Glow Girl regional Finals in Scarborough.  Jeannette went with her best friend Kendra Griffiths.  She didn’t win but at least they got chatted up by the ‘CHUCKLE BROTHERS’.  In fact one of them was coming on strong to Kendra, but she wasn’t impressed with his chat up line “Me to you, me to you”.   
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                       Miss Glow Girl – 1984


 Me and Miss Glow Girl – 11th July 1984

On a day out from the Butlins concentration camp, we went to visit a place nearby, called Portmeirion. Portmeirion was an unusual place to find in North Wales, as it was an enclosed village with Italian architecture, basically, the Mediterranean without the weather.  
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                                    Jeannette in Portmeirion

Me, Jamie & Jeannette

However, Portmeirion is probably best remembered (by people even older than me) as the location for the cult Sci-Fi series, The Prisoner,  a surreal spy drama in which Portmeirion itself played a starring role as "The Village".

The Prisoner starring Patrick McGoohan follows a 1960s (contemporary) Englishman who, after abruptly resigning from his position as a top-level government agent, is held captive in a small, colourful village by unknown people who are concerned about his resignation. Each episode typically features the imprisoned former agent, labelled "Number Six" by his captors who refuse to use names, failing to escape "the Village", but resisting the interrogation and brainwashing attempts by his captors. 
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             The Prisoner Intertitle
                 Gregor, Jamie, Fiona, Jeannette & Me  
We also visited the beach near Pwllheli while on holiday, where Russ demonstrated that he had as much hair on his chest as he had on the top of his head. He reminded me of a 1984 TV advert “Happiness is a cigar called Hamlet, Pink Shiny Dome”. Where the bloke in the restaurant loses his toupee and the waiter strikes a match on the back of his head, then lights his Hamlet cigar.  Superb! 
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                                Jeannette, Russ, Fiona, Jamie and Gregor
If the 80’s was to be remembered for one thing that set it apart from any other decade, it was MUSIC…

There was none of this Snoop Doggy Dog Shit feat. 50 pence, P.Puff Diddy Daddy long legs ft. Badly Drawn Fat Boy Fat Bastard.  It wasn’t so much that the Music in the 80’s was great, it was more that it was catchy and popular for any future generation.  Even someone like me who’d spent the last 4 years listening to Heavy Metal and Hard Rock, had embraced the new era of music whole heartedly.  

You had the New Romantic stuff like Human League, Depeche Mode, Duran Duran and Kajagoogoo, but 1984 was most notable for the arrival of an American Italian female artist going by the name of MADONNA.  It also saw the release of the Christmas Charity Single “Do They Know its Christmas” by Band Aid, which featured everyone who was anyone in 1984. 
Here are just some of the hits from 1984:-

"Agadoo" - Black Lace; "All Cried Out" - Alison Moyet; "Careless Whisper" - George Michael; "Caribbean Queen (No More Love on the Run)" - Billy Ocean; "Cruel Summer" – Bananarama; "Doctor! Doctor!" - Thompson Twins; "Drive" - The Cars; "Easy Lover" - Phillip Bailey duet with Phil Collins; "Girls Just Want To Have Fun" - Cyndi Lauper; "Ghostbusters" - Ray Parker Jr.; "Here Comes the Rain Again" – Eurythmics; "I Want To Know What Love Is" – Foreigner; "I Won't Let The Sun Go Down On Me" - Nik Kershaw; "Like a Virgin" –Madonna; "Master and Servant" - Depeche Mode; "One Night In Bangkok" - Murray Head; "Pride (In The Name Of Love)" - U2; "Purple Rain" - Prince and the Revolution; "Radio Ga Ga" – Queen; "Relax" - Frankie Goes to Hollywood; "Robert De Niro's waiting..."  Bananarama; "Run Runaway" – Slade; "Runaway" - Bon Jovi; "Shout" - Tears for Fears; "Shout To The Top" - Style Council; "Smooth Operator" – Sade; "Somebody's Watching Me" – Rockwell; "Stuck On You" - Lionel Richie; "The More You Live The more You Love" - A Flock of Seagulls; "The Never Ending Story" – Limahl; "The Power of Love" - Frankie Goes to Hollywood; "The Reflex" - Duran Duran; "The Wild Boys" - Duran Duran; "Time After Time" - Cyndi Lauper; "Together In Electric Dreams" - Philip Oakley Giorgio Moroder; "Two Tribes" - Frankie Goes to Hollywood; "Wake Me Up Before You Go-Go" – Wham; "What's Love Got to Do with it" - Tina Turner; "When Doves Cry" – Prince; "When Love Breaks Down" - Prefab Sprout; "Wouldn't It Be Good" - Nik Kershaw; "Young At Heart" - The Bluebells; "Your Love Is King" – Sade.  
Christmas songs 

"Do They Know It's Christmas" - Band Aid; "Last Christmas" – Wham; "Thank God It's Christmas" – Queen; "Another Rock And Roll Christmas" - Gary Glitter. 

On my 20th Birthday we went to Middlesbrough Town Hall to see a group not mentioned above.  Please don’t tell anyone as my hard rock image will be shattered for ever more.  It was Jeannette’s idea, she bought the tickets (Front row), and they were her Favourite group.  I couldn’t upset her and not go.  Ok, I’ll put you out of your misery; we went to see……. BUCKS FIZZ…   There was one advantage in being in the front row.  I could see right up Jay Aston’s skirt (not that she was wearing it for long, remember “Making your mind up”.)  
Bucks Fizz had of course become famous in 1981 when they won the Eurovision Song Contest in Dublin.  When we went to see them, they were in the middle of a sell out seven week UK tour.  The success of the tour led to extra dates being added at the end of the year, however after a gig in Newcastle, the group were involved in a horrific coach crash, which caused serious injury to Mike Nolan.  He made a full recovery and the band went on to further success. 
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                      Bucks Fizz 

Ann and Geoff had decided to move house.  I think it was a drastic move just to get rid of me!  There was me thinking I was the son they never wanted.  Seriously, I’d had a great two years as a lodger and as a big brother to Kate and Charlotte.  They’d found a really nice Bungalow in Great Ayton (about 8 miles from Middlesbrough) and were leaving on the 16th April.  Obviously it wasn’t great timing as I’d still got a couple of months left at Kirby College, in the 1st year of my BTEC Diploma in Business Studies.  However Jeannette’s Mum saved the day and said I could live with them until I finished college.  I helped Ann and Geoff with their move and they treated everyone to a slap up ‘Beefeater’.  
Obviously living at Jeannette’s was not a long term solution, but the most exciting prospect of my life was staring me in the face.  Mum and Dad had nearly finished in Hong Kong and they owned a house in London! The Capital! The Big Smoke! The Big Apple! (Oh no that’s somewhere else). I’d never lived in the South East of England and London was slightly more enticing than Middlesbrough.  My mind was made up, finish the 1st Year at Kirby College, then Blackheath here I come.   However I hadn’t thought everything through, I think I just assumed that Jeannette would come with me and we’d live happily ever after.  Anyway I moved to Blackheath and enrolled at SELTEC (not quite sure what it stood for,  I know it’s South East London, Tedious Education Centre) in Lewisham, to do the 2nd and Final Year of the BTEC Diploma in Business Studies. 
As it turned out, Mum and Dad only ever got to meet Jeannette for a few days in early August.   They came home from Hong Kong on 21st July, Mum for good, but Dad had to go back to Hong Kong briefly, but left for good on the 19th October.  Jeannette came to stay with us in London for a few days.  Then Bob and Lynn Cann (Bob’s my cousin, not “my Uncle”, from Sydney) also came to stay for a few days.  Bob was a good laugh and he told us some great stories, like growing up with Paul ‘Crocodile Dundee’ Hogan and about some of the dodgy betting antics of him and his son at the Racetrack in Sydney.  Jeannette and I went to Greenwich Park and visited the ‘Cutty Sark’ with them.  Bob and Lynn left a few days later to go on a coach tour of Britain.  Jeannette and I went to Central London and visited ‘Madame Tussauds’ posed for photos in front of Buckingham Palace and The Tower of London.  When Dad went back to Hong Kong I went back to Middlesbrough with Jeannette for the rest of the Summer Holiday.
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       Jeannette at Buckingham Palace
                Jeannette and me at The Cutty Sark

I split the rest of the summer between Blackheath and Hemlington.  The sun even came out in Middlesbrough one day!  On first impressions I don’t look like I’ve got particularly fair skin.  I mean I’m not a ‘Ginger’ or anything like that.  However, I’m probably the most susceptible person to sunburn in the world.  I could get sunburn on a cloudy day in February.   On this particular day, we were out in the sun all day.  I protected my face and arms but forgot to cover my legs.  At the end of the afternoon I was in complete agony, I had to get two buckets filled with cold water and put my legs, wrapped in towels,  in the buckets.  At night I had to smother myself with Calamine lotion.

One night while staying at Jeannette’s, I awoke with a start (no Jeannette hadn’t pounced on me in the middle of the night, mores the pity!).  There was a loud smashing sound outside.  I peeked round the curtains and saw two men breaking into the shop opposite. I could’ve run outside and confronted them, but they might’ve been armed.  Instead I completely ignored it.  I was the only person in the house who bothered to get up.  A smash and grab in Hemlington was the equivalent of a dog barking in Linthorpe.   
So in September I started at SELTEC doing the 2nd Year of the BTEC Diploma in Business Studies.  This was quite a cultural shock.  I was in a class of about thirty and only three of us were, how can I put it - Caucasian.  I soon made some friends though and on a Friday morning we’d only have lectures until 11 am, then I’d play Dominoes in the Canteen for the rest of the day.  I always thought that Dominoes was simply play at one end or the other if you could.  However I soon came to realise that it was very tactical and the aim was to be left with the ‘Key Domino’ (said in a West Indian/Sarf East London accent).  I soon became a very popular student, as I seemed to be one of only a few people who knew what they were doing.  To be honest half the class should’ve been studying English not Business Studies. 
Two people I did become good friends with were, a Lebanese Student called Basam Masri (Boss) and a Greek Student called Costas Lulas (Zorba!  Not really).  Boss was from a very rich family and he didn’t have to worry about Student Grants or the like.  He rented a house in Catford with his brother, had a £500 a month allowance and drove around in a BMW 3-series.  The rest of us were lucky if we had a Bus Pass.  Boss had a beautiful English girlfriend called Vicky.  Costas lived in a flat above a shop in Beckenham.  He was a bit of a Ladies man, probably something to do with him being Greek and his parents owning the most popular hotel in the most popular resort (Agios Nikolaos) on the Island of Crete.  
I made friends with this other lad doing the BTEC course with me.  I say doing, but I use the word doing lightly when talking about Guy Marley.  More often than not he wouldn’t turn up for lectures, but there was something about him, in a loveable rogue sort of way.  He was doing Business Studies, but his real passion was Computers.  He introduced me to two other lads that would become friends, Ian Leigh and Andy Capon.  Ian and Andy were, for want of a better word, TECHNO GEEKS (that’s 2 words).  While most of us were just getting used to our BBC Micro Computers and having a bash at BASIC programming, the TG’s were at a whole new level.  Our favourite pub to meet in was ‘Guy Earl of Warwick’ near Welling United Football Ground.  On a Friday Night when we should be out pulling birds and getting drunk, the TG’s would bring their 3000 page COBOL (COmmon Business-Oriented Language), programming manuals, to the pub.   What joy!
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   Football Manager’ on the BBC Micro 


              BBC Micro Computer

‘Football Manager’ on the BBC Micro was the greatest thing since sliced bread.  Guy would often come over and we’d play Football Manager for hours.  Well that’s if the tape loaded up Ok.  Sometimes it would take 10 attempts to load the game.  However once you were set up, you’d pick your team, skill level, select your line-up, then sit back and watch the game highlights (see picture above).  At this point you had no control on the match.  If a goal was scored it would make that crunching noise, like interference on the radio. Kids these days with their PS3’s, Xbox360’s would laugh at this, but we were happier than a pig in shit!

Another good thing about living in London was loads of Football to watch and different grounds to visit.  On the 3rd November, my brother Charlie was down for the weekend and I went with him, Guy and Costas to White Hart Lane, to see Spurs v West Brom (2-3).  Then the following Saturday I went to Upton Park, to see West Ham v Everton (0-1). 
With my new found friends in London taking up a lot of my time, I didn’t get to see Jeannette much.  However I wasn’t prepared for her bombshell when I visited in the Half Term holiday.  I caught the coach from Victoria to Middlesbrough on the 23rd October.  I knew as soon as I saw her something wasn’t quite right.  There wasn’t that spark that we had before.  I asked her if everything was OK and she said yes.  I stayed for nearly a week and it was a very difficult week.  I finally got to the truth. Jeannette said that she didn’t feel the same about me anymore and suggested that we maybe weren’t meant to be together.  This came as a complete shock to me and I went into denial.  I refused to accept what she was saying and convinced her to reconsider.  When I returned to Blackheath we were still together (well in my mind we were) as if nothing had changed.  The next time (and last) I saw Jeannette was just before Christmas.  Again I got the coach to Middlesbrough and again the meeting was awkward.  This time however, I accepted that it was over and we said our final goodbyes at Middlesbrough Bus Garage, how romantic.  I promised not to pester her into changing her mind, but broke this promise almost immediately and pestered her to the point where she told me “To grow and act my age, and never to contact her again”.  Eventually I stopped contacting her and we never heard from each other again (until 2007, 23 years later, when I found Jeannette on Friends Reunited.  We get on fine now; I think 23 years of non-pestering has done the trick.  I don’t think I’ll suggest getting back together though!)  There are two songs that always remind (depress) me of that break up.  “Drive – by The Cars” and “Missing You – by John Waite”.  I moped around for a while when I got back to London, but Dad had got a job in Birmingham for the next 6 months or so.  I thought “you’re 20 years old, you’ve got the run of the house in London, move on”.  Party time! 
No sooner had Dad come home from Hong Kong; he started his job in Birmingham.  Mum and Dad rented a flat in the Edgbaston area of Birmingham.  Dad was working in Dudley filling in some holes in some Limestone Mines, a bit of a change from building the most expensive building in the world in Hong Kong. They would come back to London most weekends, but occasionally I’d go up to visit them.  On December 8th Charlie and I had gone to visit and Boro just happened to be playing Birmingham City at St.Andrews.  We went to the game, but left a couple of minutes before the end, with Boro 3 – 0 down.  They did actually score two goals in the last two minutes but it was too little too late.  I had a 5 hour train journey back to London and didn’t get home until after midnight.








As part of our Business Studies diploma we were required to study Law. Nothing too taxing.  Just your basic Contracts, Offer & Acceptance, Consideration stuff.  It doesn’t matter what law you’re studying, you always start off with:- 

Carlill v. Carbolic Smoke Ball Company, [3] decided in nineteenth-century England. A medical firm advertised that its new wonder drug, a smoke ball, would cure people's flu, and if it did not, buyers would receive £100. When sued Carbolic argued the advert was not to be taken as a serious, legally binding offer. It was merely an invitation to treat, or mere puff, a gimmick. But the court of appeal held that it would appear to a reasonable man that Carbolic had made a serious offer. People had given good "consideration" for it by going to the "distinct inconvenience" of using a faulty product. "Read the advertisement how you will, and twist it about as you will," said Lindley LJ, "here is a distinct promise expressed in language which is perfectly unmistakable.
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On the 9th November the whole class went on a trip to London.  We visited the Law Courts and the Old Bailey.  You were allowed in the public gallery, but had to be deathly quiet.  We were in the Law Courts and had all been on best behaviour, until this man was brought into the dock.  The Judge was talking to him, and then out of nowhere he accused the man of Buggery!  That was the end of our trip to the Law Courts, as we were giggling like 10 year old schoolgirls and all had to make a quick exit.  We did manage to compose ourselves enough to be allowed to visit the Old Bailey.  All in all it was a good day out and free of charge.
1984 Facts & Figures

Feb 14th – Torvill and Dean won Olympic Ice Dancing Gold in Sarajevo, to the music of Ravel’s
 Bolero.  

Feb 29th – Pierre Trudeau, the Prime Minister of Canada, quit after 15 years in office.
April 17th - WPC Yvonne Fletcher is shot dead outside the Libyan Embassy in London.
July 9th – A bolt of Lightning was blamed for the fire which devastated the 700-year-old York
 Minster.
July 18th – A gunman (Oliver Huberty) slaughtered 20 people and wounded 16 others at a

 McDonald’s in California.
August – Carl Lewis emulated Jesse Owen’s feat of 1936 by winning Gold in both sprints, Long
 Jump and relay, at the LA Olympics.

Sept 26th – China and UK agree that sovereignty over Hong Kong will revert to China in 1997.
Oct 12th – An IRA bomb devastated the Grand Hotel, Brighton, during the Tory Party

 Conference.  PM Maggie Thatcher narrowly escaped. 
Nov 6th – President Ronald Regan won a stunning victory in the US Presidential election, winning
 49 out of 50 states.
Dec 10th – A leak from a chemical factory’s storage tank killed at least 2000 people in the

 central Indian city of Bhopal.

Top Films of 1984 – Beverley Hills Cop, Ghostbusters, Indiana Jones and the Temple of Doom, Gremlins.
Nineteen Eighty-Four (also titled 1984), [1] by George Orwell (the pen name of Eric Arthur Blair), is an English novel about life in a dictatorship as lived by Winston Smith, an intellectual worker at the Ministry of Truth, and his degradation when he runs afoul of the totalitarian government of Oceania, the state in which he lives in the year that he presumes is 1984.

Nineteen Eighty-Four was published in 1949 and has been translated to sixty-two languages. The novel's title, its terms and its language (Newspeak), and its author's surname are bywords for personal privacy lost to national state security. The adjective "Orwellian" denotes totalitarian action and organisation; the phrase: Big Brother is Watching You connotes pervasive, invasive surveillance.                                                             
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Births
Sep 15th – Prince Henry Charles Albert David ‘Harry’, the 2nd son of the Prince and Princess of Wales.
Deaths

Jan 20th – Johnny (Tarzan) Weissmuller, US actor and swimmer, died aged 79.
Feb 9th – Yuri Andropov, Soviet Union Leader 1982 -84, died aged 69.

April 1st – Marvin Gaye, US Singer, died aged 45.

April 15th – Tommy Cooper, British Comedian and magician, died aged 63.
May 4th – Diana Dors, British Actress, died aged 52. 

May 19th – Sir John Betjeman, Poet Laureate 1972 - 84, died aged 78.

May 28th – Eric Morecambe, British comedian, died after performing on stage, aged 58.

Aug 5th – Richard Burton, British Actor, died aged 58.

Oct 5th – Leonard Rossiter, British Actor, died aged 58.
Oct 31st – Mrs. Indira Gandhi, Prime Minister of India, was assassinated, aged 66.
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         Eastenders                      Pound Puppies                        Live Aid
                          Boris Becker

So mum and dad were living in Birmingham (some of the time) and I was at college in London finishing my 2 year diploma in Business Studies.   As I was nearing the end of my course I had decisions to make about my future.  It seemed that everyone else doing the course wanted to go to University, but I fancied getting a job in London.  However I couldn’t decide what I wanted to do.  Computers were the big thing and after programming the BBC computer to produce a picture of a cat (Wow!!), I decided I wanted a job in computers. 

In February we had to do two weeks Work Experience and with my parents living in Birmingham, Guy Marley came up with a great idea for our Work Experience.  He knew a Senior Executive at Central TV (based in Birmingham) and Guy reckoned he could get us a great job in the TV studios.  It didn’t happen!   Undeterred he came up with another brilliant plan. Despite only being about 20 years old himself, Guy was a Football referee and he somehow knew top referee Peter Willis.  Peter Willis was the President of the Referees Association and Guy reckoned he could get us a great job there. It didn’t happen!  {As it turned out Peter Willis became a household name later in 1985, when he refereed the F.A. Cup Final between Manchester United and Everton.  In the 78th minute Kevin Moran of Manchester United was given a straight red card by him, after a foul on Everton's Peter Reid 40 yards from goal.  Moran therefore became the first player ever to be dismissed from the field of play in an FA Cup Final.} 

None of this helped us get Work Experience, but the college had a back up plan and at the last minute I got a placement at a company called ‘Answerall Ltd’ based in Sydenham, South East London.  It was quite handy as I could catch the bus from Lee Green to Sydenham.  On my first day I was shown round the company, which manufactured Telephone Answer Machines.  I was put in the Accounts Dept and was allowed to do real work, which I quite enjoyed.  Forget computers, I’m going to work in Accounts.

I was to change my career plan dramatically after visiting mum and dad in Birmingham.  Dad showed me something from the local paper about Banks recruiting new staff.  So I sent off job applications to Barclays, Lloyds, Midland and Nat West in Birmingham.  On the 12th April I had replies from Midland and Lloyds, which offered little hope of a job.  Barclays and Nat West didn’t even reply, which offered even less hope of a job.  What do I want to work in Birmingham for anyway?  Dad’s only working there for 6 months, time to have another rethink.  

I went to the careers office at college and they had loads of names and addresses of different companies in London.  I decided I wanted to work in the City as that was where the ‘Big Bucks’ were.  I did myself a CV, which wasn’t the most impressive, but at least I wouldn’t have to lie in the Interview.  I then drafted a letter to go with the CV and sent it off to numerous Financial Institutions.  My first interview came through for May 9th at a company called ‘DataStream’ based in the City.  The interview went well and they offered me a job as a Junior Data Analyst looking after Unit Trust portfolios.  Then they told me the salary which was £4,500 a year.  I considered accepting but felt I could earn much more.  I don’t think I was looking at the bigger picture, being that it was a job in the City and in 3 years I’d probably be on £50k a year, own a Porsche and wear braces, cufflinks and metal hoops on the sleeves of my shirts.  The interviews were coming thick and fast now and on May 20th I went to Mercantile Credit Co. for a very informal sort of Interview, “We’ll get back to you”. Yeah right I won’t hold my breath. The next day I had an interview with Merchant Bankers called Leopold Joseph.  The money was better but I don’t think I made a very good impression and consequently wasn’t offered the job.  I abandoned the job hunting for a little while to concentrate on my exams. 

Not wanting to sound Big Headed, but I was the best in the class at Business Studies.  That does sound Big headed doesn’t it! The course was basically split into two elements, Course Work and an Examination in 7 different subjects.  We sat the exams at the end of May and beginning of June and I felt I did quite well and could relax and refocus on finding a job, but not before I took some time out.  

Russ and Fiona were now living in Germany after Russ was posted to a place called Osnabruck in Northern Germany.  My brother Dave had also been posted to Germany and he lived not too far from Fiona in a place called Rinteln.  In fact earlier in 1985, 7th February to be exact, my first niece was born at B.M.H. Iserlohn.  Her name was Rachel Lucy Baldwin, or was it. Mum had gone out to Germany to help Val after the birth and she wasn’t too keen on the name Rachel.  “Isn’t that a bit Jewish” she said to David.  Hello! Your son is called David. ‘David, King of all Israel’, you can’t get much more Jewish than that.  Mum must’ve had her way though, as on her Birth Certificate her name was Laura Rachel Lucy Baldwin.   

On June 22nd,  Mandy Hutchinson a friend of mine from Kirby College, Middlesbrough,  came down to London to have an interview with a College/University in West London and I arranged to go with her and I’d also invited her to go to Germany with me the following day to visit Fiona, Russ and Jamie.  After her interview we somehow ended up snogging on a bench and I was suddenly looking forward to my trip to Germany much more.  That evening we went to an all night party in Annerley to celebrate the end of college, lots more snogging!  However the next day we left for Germany and while on the train to Harwich, Mandy dropped the “I only want to be friends” bombshell.  Talk about putting a downer on the holiday.  We caught the Ferry from Harwich to Hook-of-Holland, where we then caught a train to Osnabruck.  On arrival in Osnabruck we were met by Russ, who whisked us away to a bar at a sort of Country Park.  We proceeded to get very drunk and eat lots of ‘Wursts’ (German Sausages).   While staying there, we had a good night out at the Sergeants Mess.  It was a Wild West theme and they had a ‘Rodeo Bull’ to have a go on.  When Russ went on he was doing ok, until he was thrown off over the horns and nearly lost his ‘Family Jewels’. We also went to a Bingo Night, which wouldn’t normally really be worthy of a mention, but in the very first game of the night I claimed a Line (5 numbers in the same Line) after only 6 numbers had been called.  Everyone was shouting “No, don’t be stupid”, but it was there for everyone to see.  If you think about it, getting 5 numbers out of 6 on the Lottery is extremely rare and that’s only 49 numbers, mine was 5 out of 6 from 90 numbers.  I’ll let you do the Math (that’s too American isn’t it?).  When we went back to London, Fiona and Jamie came with us, so we went via Zeebrugge – Dover.  It was a nice surprise for mum and dad to see Fiona and Jamie. The following day we took Mandy to Victoria Coach Station, but she missed the bus, so we took her to King’s Cross to catch the train back to Middlesbrough.  
To my surprise, on return from holiday, I had a letter from Mercantile Credit Co. inviting me back.  They must’ve seen something in me! On July 2nd I turned up at their office in Gt. Queen Street, Holborn, not quite knowing what to expect.  However whatever I was expecting it certainly wasn’t what I was confronted with. There were about 18 people waiting to go into a meeting room. When we settled down they split us into 3 groups and proceeded to give us group tasks to perform.  In one of these tasks we were given a scenario whereby there were a group of famous people on a sinking ship and only enough room in the lifeboat for six people.  We had to select the six and give our reasoning behind it.  We selected Margaret Thatcher straight away as she was Prime Minister and very important, Ian Botham because he was a national hero and also he was strong, which would come in handy when rowing the boat.  I can’t remember who else was saved, but Elton John and George Michael were left to drown, as they could only sing and would probably demand an upgrade on the lifeboat. It did the trick though, as at the end they said they were offering six jobs and gave them all to my group.  The rest were told “You’re Fired”.  So forget 4 years at University, just work out who to put in a lifeboat and you’re sorted.  They asked me to go back on July 12th to find out where I’d be working.  On July 9th I received my Final results for my Diploma in Business Studies, distinction, the only one. On the 12th I returned to MCC and was told I’d be working in the Leasing Accounts Department (whatever that meant) and to start on Monday.

My Results of the B/TEC Diploma in Business Studies:-





Course

Exam



Accounts
A

A







O & E

A

C







Admin

B

B







Law

A1

B







Banking

B

B







Computers
A

A







CMA

A

-







* O & E – Organisation and its Environment






CMA - Cross Modular Assignments

At the weekend before I started at Mercantile Credit, there was the biggest music event of all time ‘Live Aid’.  Live Aid was a multi-venue rock music concert held on July 13, 1985 (1985-07-13). The event was organised by Bob Geldof and Midge Ure to raise funds for famine relief in Ethiopia. Billed as the 'global jukebox', the event was held simultaneously in Wembley Stadium, London (attended by 82,000 people) and JFK Stadium, Philadelphia (attended by about 99,000 people). On the same day, concerts inspired by the initiative happened in other countries, such as Australia and Germany. It was one of the largest-scale satellite link-ups and television broadcasts of all time: an estimated 400 million viewers, across 60 countries, watched the live broadcast.

At Wembley Stadium, the Cold stream Guards band opened with the "Royal Salute", "God Save the Queen". Status Quo started their set with "Rockin' All over the World"; also playing "Caroline" and fan favourite "Don't Waste My Time".  Queen opening to massive cheers with "Bohemian Rhapsody".  Lead singer Freddie Mercury got the entire Wembley crowd clapping in unison to "Radio Ga Ga" and "Crazy Little Thing Called Love" before singing along, word-for-word, to "We Will Rock You" and "We Are the Champions”.  Elvis Costello sang a touching version of the Beatles "All You Need is Love".  Another moment that got a huge crowd response was when David Bowie performed "Heroes".  U2's performance established them as a pre-eminent live group for the first time.  Bono jumped off the stage to join the crowd and danced with a girl. The girl with whom he danced revealed that he actually saved her life at the time. She was being crushed by the throngs of people pushing forwards; Bono saw this, and gestured frantically at the ushers to help her. They didn't understand what he was saying, and so he jumped down to help her himself.  At the conclusion of the Wembley performances, Paul McCartney sang “Let it Be” and  Bob Geldof was raised heroically onto the shoulders of The Who's guitarist Pete Townshend and McCartney — symbolising his great achievement in unifying the world for one day. 
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Phil Collins performed at both Wembley Stadium and JFK, utilising Concorde to get him from London to Philadelphia. UK TV personality Noel Edmonds piloted the helicopter that took Collins to Heathrow Airport to catch his flight. Aside from his own set at both venues, he also provided drums for Eric Clapton and the reunion of the surviving members of Led Zeppelin at JFK finale.

So on July 15th 1985 I started my career as an Accountant.  Well I wasn’t quite an Accountant yet, in fact I wasn’t really anything yet, just an Office Junior!  My boss was called Dave Mehigan and he could best be described as a ‘Chain Smoking Alcoholic’.  My work colleagues were, Graham Bennett (Ben) who was also a chain smoker, compulsive gambler and drank Bacardi like water. Mark Lawrence was also a smoker and drinker, who’d been left permanently affected by TB (Tuberculosis).  Joe Moras was a little Indian ‘Danny DeVito’ type character, who was a practicing alcoholic, who spent more time propping up the bar in the ‘Sugar Loaf’ pub in Gt. Queen Street, than he did at his desk.  We had two girls in the Department, Cathy Shortland who was quite pretty and about my age and Sally Riordan who was also pretty but a bit ‘Gothic’.  That didn’t stop Peter Larner taking a shine to her, despite being old enough to be her dad.  I liked Peter; he was a sort of irresponsible middle aged man. My supervisor was an Indian bloke called Kishor Devani. The rest of the Department was made up of older men who’d worked there since the War!  There was Clive Pannell who’d been doing the same job for 40 years, who went to Switzerland on holiday every year, as his daughter lived there.  There was Mr. Patel (I never did find out his first name) and sitting in front of me was Dennis Hubbard.  Dennis didn’t want to know me at first, just because I’d been a student, “We paid for your education through our tax, just for you to sponge off the state”.  So all in all it was quite a well balanced department I’d joined, with good role models! Not!! 

On my first day Ben and Mark took me to lunch in the canteen.  It wasn’t bad, there was a good selection of hot food and I fell in love with the girl working on the till.  Her name was Maria and she was a “Greek Cockney”.  She even spoke to me, but I was too busy looking down her cleavage, to catch what she said!  After lunch we went to the TV Lounge on the Top Floor, near the Chairman’s (Stuart Errington) office.  Later that week it was the Open Championship, so I spent my lunchtime glued to that.  1985 was the year that Sandy Lyle won.  I also played Chess with Ben, who after thrashing me told me he was World Champion of Romford at Chess.   

On 4th May it was my 21st Birthday but I didn’t really celebrate in style.  In fact I just played football in Welling with Guy Marley and Ian Leigh and afterwards we all had a birthday tea at my house.  I say birthday tea, but I think we just had cheese on toast.  However in August I was to make up for not having a 21st Party, by having an impromptu party when Mum and Dad were away for the week in Norfolk visiting Charlie. 

Some of my friends said to me to have a party. “No Way” I said, I’d been to parties and seen how out of hand they can get. “Go on they’ll only be a few of us there”. So against my better judgement I agreed, however I wasn’t taking any chances and decided to label all the items on the unit in the Living Room and lock them in the garage.  Just one problem, this unit had more exhibits than the British Museum.  I put blankets over the sofa and also put the TV in the garage. It was just as well that I took these drastic measures, as my worse fears were realised.  By the time the party was in full swing, there must’ve been in the region of 40 – 50 people in our little Town House.  At one point a mattress ended up in the front garden, the Police stopped by to ask to keep the noise down.  Despite all this I remained calm and enjoyed the party, NOT!  At one point later in the evening the phone rang.  I turned off the music and shouted at everyone to be quiet, which they did, except for some knob who was near the phone. He’s only gone and picked it up and said “Helloooo”. My dad has said “Hello is Al there?” to which he’s replied “Who?” My heart sank; I’m so dead they’ll have to bury me twice! I spoke to dad and he asked who that was and how many people I had round.  I said “He’s a friend of Guy’s; there are about 7 or 8, maybe 15, (maybe 40!)”.  Dad said “Well don’t let anyone get drunk (too late), don’t make too much noise (too late) and don’t break anything (not sure about that one at that point).  Dad’s call was the final straw and I decided to throw everyone out, except for my supposed friends who put me up to the party.  They were going to help me tidy up.  After a full inspection it looked like I’d got away with it, then I found some broken glass in the downstairs toilet.  It was from a glass door to a small cabinet in the hall.  Mum and dad will probably never notice.  Never again!

Cliff Brown from work found a great trip (for lads), £37 for a weekend on a cruise ship to Gothenburg in Sweden.  Word spread and by the time we went there were about 20 of us. I was sharing a cabin with Nigel Hackett and John Holland from work and my mate Andy Capon.  Cliff was in charge of the booking and used a reputable Travel Agent (allegedly).  I say reputable because they told us that the ship departed at 2pm, when it was actually due to leave at 11am.  As there were so many of us, we hired a coach to take us to Harwich.  Obviously there was a bit of drinking going on and at one point the coach driver had to pull into a Lay-by on the A12, so 20 lads could have a piss behind a bush.  We arrived in Harwich about 1pm, so in good time for the 2pm departure, or so we thought.  However we were greeted by faces like thunder from the Crew and other passengers.  Normally the ship would’ve left without us but because of the size of our party they waited.  As we boarded the ship we were subjected to a silent hostile reception, you could hear people saying to themselves “We waited for this bunch of tossers!”  So we didn’t disappoint. Half of us headed for the bar and half for the sauna.  I was in the latter group and it was my first time, a ‘Sauna Virgin’.  I suspected quite early on that our behaviour wasn’t quite out of the “Sauna Etiquette Textbook”.  Any people who were enjoying a nice relaxing time sitting in a room at 100 degrees Celsius, made a quick departure when 10 drunken louts barged in and started pouring water on a bunch of hot coals near the door.  This raised the temperature a notch or five and coupled with the alcohol, made it a life threatening experience. We all survived though and moved onto the next on board activity.
After lots more drinking we all needed something to eat, so bring on the Smörgåsbord. This is a Swedish Hot & Cold Buffet and it was £7 eat as much as you (can stuff down your throat) like.  It’s traditional to start off with cold fish dishes, such as Herring, Salmon or Eel, then move on to the other cold dishes, which were cold meats, potato, boiled or potato casserole, soft and crisp bread, butter and different cheeses, beetroot salad, cabbage (red, brown or green) and rice pudding.  The third course would be warm dishes, including Swedish meatballs, small fried hot dog sausages, roasted pork ribs and warm potato casserole, matchstick potatoes layered with cream, onion and sprats called Janssons frestelse (literally "Jansson's Temptation").  However what do 20 drunken lads know about tradition?  It was a case of who could pile their plate the highest in no logical order.  

Later in the evening we headed to the on board disco.  With the alcohol and the movement of the boat we were able to perfect some moves on the dance floor which wouldn’t normally be achievable. None of this really impressed the Scandinavian beauties but we enjoyed ourselves trying.  Also part of the evening entertainment was a Casino with Roulette and Blackjack.  John Holland had finally plucked up the courage to talk to this girl he’d been eyeing up all night.  He was on his way over when something caught his eye on the floor, it was a casino chip and I think it was worth about £20.  So he picked it up, turned round and headed straight for the Casino.  Nice to see he had his priorities right. When we finally settled down for the night in our cabin, I was drifting off to sleep when I imagined that I saw Nigel leave the cabin ‘Stark Bollock Naked’.  When I realised that I wasn’t asleep and that there were only 3 of us in the cabin, it seemed that I didn’t imagine it.  20 minutes later Nigel returned ‘SBN’ and in a drunken slur, he said “I was trying to find a cab”  

When we finally arrived in Gothenburg, because of us delaying departure, we only had 4 hours sightseeing instead of the planned 6 hours.  We didn’t really have much time, but we wandered around, went on a tram, followed a stunning Swedish girl pushing a bike, went in a massive sweet shop and took a few photos of Gothenburg.  The trip home was a bit more civilised, mainly due to feeling rough from the night before and no money left.  All in all though, it was a great weekend.  
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      ‘Dance Fever, Dance Fever’
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                              Sea sickness? 



Cheers – Nigel and John

I was back in Germany on October 12th,   when I travelled with mum and dad.  We caught the ferry from Dover to Zeebrugge and drove via Antwerp, Eindhoven, Duisberg and Munster to Osnabruck, to stay with Fiona, Russ and Jamie. On the Sunday David, Valerie, Steven and Laura came to visit us and we all went out for lunch. The following evening I went 10 Pin Bowling in Osnabruck, with Fiona and Russ. On the Tuesday we went to the old town of Tecklenburg and visited the Purpen museum. Just before midnight Russ was called out on an Army alert ‘Active Edge’ exercise.  I think that basically means they sit in a forest all night.  He came back from his exercise at tea time the following day.  We all visited the town of Munster, an old university town, full of cyclists. Mum and Fiona got lost in Munster, but we came back for them the following day! Not really, we left them for two days! Later in the week we drove to David and Valerie’s in Rinteln, to stay for two nights.  Fiona, Russ and Jamie came over.  Then except for David, we all drove to the town of Hamelin.  We explored the old town of ‘The Pied Piper’ and took a boat trip up the River Weser. 

In 1284, while the town of Hamelin was suffering from a rat infestation, a man dressed in pied clothing (like a Jester) appeared, claiming to be a rat-catcher. He promised the townsmen a solution for their problem with the rats. The townsmen in turn promised to pay him for the removal of the rats. The man accepted, and played a musical pipe to lure the rats with a song into the Weser River, where all of them drowned. Despite his success, the people reneged on their promise and refused to pay the rat-catcher. The man left the town angrily, but returned some time later, seeking revenge.  On Saint John and Paul's day while the inhabitants were in church, he played his pipe yet again, this time attracting the children of Hamelin. One hundred and thirty boys and girls followed him out of the town, where they were lured into a cave and never seen again.  The following day we left Rinteln at 8 am and drove 322 miles to Zeebrugge to catch the 3 pm boat to Dover and home.  

I joined the Darts team at work and we played against other companies, clubs, pubs, etc each week.  Our home matches took place in the ‘Sugar Loaf’ and our captain was Joe Moras.  This was very handy for Joe as the Dartboard was very close to his stool in the pub.  As mentioned earlier, Joe spent nearly every pub opening hour glued to that stool.  I wasn’t very good at darts and rarely got much of a game, but I still turned up as we got free food.  In the Sugar Loaf they served Roast Potatoes that had been heated up in the microwave.  They were like a lump of hot coal, but this didn’t stop my friend Nigel from eating them whole as a dare with a free pint as the prize.  On November 29th there was a Final’s night at this Working Men’s club in The Isle of Dogs and I went home with a small trophy. I felt a slight fraud as it’s for the 8-a-side Final and I only threw about 6 darts and those weren’t that great.  The more I thought about it, the bigger the trophy got in my mind.  After all the finals had finished, we played a game of ‘Spoof’.  This was a great ‘Pub Sport’ that was a lot easier than darts.  Basically everyone has 3 coins, they put them behind their back and select from 0 – 3 coins to hide in their hand.  You go round the players and you take turns guessing the total number of coins hidden.  If you get it right you’re safe and can relax. You carry on until you’re down to two players and the loser buys everyone a drink (half Pint).  

With mum and Charlie being diabetic, we all had to be vigilant incase they got high or low and passed out.  What is it with diabetics though? One minute they're on the floor with a loved one standing by screaming "Give him some chocolate! Give him some chocolate!" The next day someone offers them a piece of chocolate and quick as a flash they say "No thanks, I'm diabetic." I wish they'd get their story straight.

On the 4th November dad won a game of ‘Trivial Pursuit’ in a prize draw at W.H. Smith in Lewisham.  Just one problem it was the Baby Boomer edition.  This one was designed to appeal to people born in the post-war baby boom, those years of gloom in the fifties when there was nothing to do except have babies. Baby boomers knew all about the sixties, mainly because they were alive and out of short trousers at the time.  Baby Boomer was the third edition of Trivial Pursuit with 3,000 teasers, posers and puzzlers to add to the 6,000 in the original Genus and Young Players editions. Gasp! What a mountain of trivia! There were new categories: Broadcasting, Stage and Screen, Nightly News, Publishing, Life and Times, and RPM (pop music, in other words). Typical questions were: Which two Rolling Stones sang backing vocals on 'All You Need Is Love'? In which Hitchcock film did Grace Kelly stab her assailant with a pair of scissors? Which county did Mike Brearley captain when he was captaining England? (Answers: Mick and Keith; Dial M for Murder, Middlesex.)  Any pop music questions were wasted on mum and dad, as they seemed to have been frozen in the Fifties and Sixties as far as popular music was concerned. The classic version of Trivial Pursuit, the Genus edition, was much more their cup of tea, with the traditional categories.  These were Geography (Blue), Entertainment (Pink), History (Yellow), Arts & Literature (Brown), Science & Nature (Green), and Sports & Leisure (Orange). The game included a board, playing pieces, question cards and a box and small plastic wedges (often referred to as cheese) to fit into the playing pieces. 
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On 9th December I became a major shareholder in the Telecoms giant Cable & Wireless.  The Conservative Party government led by Margaret Thatcher began privatising the nationalised industries, and their history as a private company made Cable and Wireless an early candidate. Privatisation was announced in 1980, with Cable and Wireless privatised in November 1981. However this was another issue of shares in 1985 and dad bought 100 for him and mum and I got 50 shares.  Buying shares in the mid 80’s was all the rage after it all became a bit more accessible and you didn’t need a Yuppie (short for "young urban professional" or "young upwardly-mobile professional") broker to cream off any profit you might make. 

1985 Facts & Figures

Jan 10th – Sir Clive Sinclair unveiled his battery and pedal-powered tricycle called the C5.

Jan 13th – In the third worst rail disaster ever, 390 killed when a train bound for Addis Ababa
 fell into a ravine.

Jan 17th – British Telecom announced it was going to phase out its famous red telephone boxes.   

Jan 28th – In Hollywood, California, the charity single "We Are the World" was recorded by USA
 for Africa. The American act consisted of high profile performers including Michael
 Jackson, Lionel Ritchie, Tina Turner, Cyndi Lauper and Diana Ross.

Feb 22nd – Sterling fell to a record low against the US Dollar - $1.0765 

Mar 11th – Mikhail Gorbachev became the new leader of the Soviet Union.

May 11th – 56 football fans were killed when fire swept through the main stand at Bradford

 City’s Valley Parade ground.

May 29th – 41 football fans were killed when Liverpool fans went on the rampage and a wall and
 safety fence collapsed before the European Cup Final against Juventus, at Heysel

 Stadium in Brussels.

July 7th – 17-year-old West German, Boris Becker, became the youngest Wimbledon Men’s

 Singles champion. 

July 13th – Live Aid concerts in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and London, raised over £50 million for
 famine relief in Ethiopia. 

Sep 15th – Europe won the Ryder Cup for the first time in 28 years at the Belfry. 

Sep 19th – An 8.1 Richter scale earthquake strikes Mexico City. Around 10,000 people are killed,
 30,000 injured, and 95,000 left homeless.
Nov 13th – Nevado Del Ruiz volcano erupts, killing an estimated 23,000 people near the town of
 Armero, Colombia.
Top Films of 1985 – Back to the Future, Rambo: First Blood Part II, Rocky IV and The Color Purple.

Deaths

Mar 21st – Sir Michael Redgrave, English Actor, died aged 77.

Sep 17th – Laura Ashley, Welsh Home Furnishing designer, died aged 60.

Sep 30th – Charles Francis Richter, American Seismologist, creator of the Richter scale, died
 aged 85.

Oct 2nd – Rock Hudson, American Actor, died of AIDS, aged 59.

Oct 10th – Yul Brynner, Russian born American Actor, died aged 65.

Oct 10th – Orson Welles, American Film Director, died aged 70.

Nov 1st – Phil Silvers, American Entertainer, Sgt. Bilko in the Phil Silvers Show, died aged 74.

Dec 16th – Paul Castellano, Italian – American Mafia Boss, shot in New York, died aged 70.

Dec 26th – Dian Fossey, American Zoologist, murdered in Rwanda, died aged 53.
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             Disposable Camera 
Casio Keyboard            Crocodile Dundee         Neighbours
             
Towards the end of 1985, Channel 4 started to show highlights of American Football on a Sunday evening. This was another attempt to get us British interested in the national sport of the USA. Amazingly it seemed to be working. Maybe it was something to do with the fact that we only saw the best bits and the weekly round up was shown to the sound of ‘Two Tribes’ by Frankie Goes to Hollywood .  In the first show I saw, they showed highlights of a game involving a team called the New England Patriots. They weren’t one of the big teams, but I decided I was going to support them.  The stars of the NFL at the time were players like Joe Montana of the San Francisco 49ers, Dan Marino of the Miami Dolphins and Walter Payton of the Chicago Bears. However, the player who got the most attention was a lovably 23st rookie defensive tackle simply known as the "Fridge," William "Refrigerator" Perry.

The climax of the season was the SuperBowl, which was between the winners of the two conferences AFC and NFC.  My team the New England Patriots had never made the SuperBowl in their history, but with my support they defied the odds and won the AFC playoff to reach SuperBowl XX against the Chicago Bears and the “Fridge”.  Channel 4 was showing the game live, so I had a SuperBowl party for a few of us who’d got into the game.  Remember we’d only seen highlights before and been lulled into the false sense of security that it was a fast flowing, exciting game. Another problem was that the game kicked off at about midnight and despite the game time being only 1 Hour (4 Quarters of 15 mins), with all the stoppages for Time Outs, ball going out of play, 2 minute warning and various other delays, you’re looking at 3 Hours, plus about 30 – 40 minutes for half time entertainment.  Therefore I’d long fallen asleep when I woke to see that the Chicago Bears had thrashed the New England Patriots 46 – 10.
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We were nothing if not determined to not let this SuperBowl experience diminish our enthusiasm for this strange American game.  I think the Americans were also determined that we embrace the game, as they organised a pre-season (season started September) game at Wembley on August 3rd between the Chicago Bears and the Dallas Cowboys.  There was no chance of falling asleep this time, with a 3 pm kick off but if 3 (nearer 4) hours of my life have been more tedious, I can’t recall them.  It would be more entertaining watching paint dry in a Rainforest.  The most exciting thing was a “Mexican Wave” (see World Cup Mexico 1986) and when a Blow up Doll was passed around the crowd.  This didn’t stop me shelling out for an over priced T-Shirt and programme that I’d probably never ever read again. 
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             Spot the Blow up Doll


On Thursday February 13th I went to the Mercantile Credit staff dinner and dance at the Royal Lancaster Hotel, in Lancaster Gate (posh!). It was for staff only, no WAGS (Wives and Girlfriends).  It was so posh that they even had a man dressed up, complete with Top Hat, to announce your name when you arrived.  This was too tempting not to have a bit of fun.  We had to decide on an alter ego to be announced at the party.  Ben decided to be Alan Devonshire, who was a West Ham United player at the time.  I decided to be Bob Todd (the straight man in the Benny Hill Show). It was hilarious “Ladies and Gentlemen, Mr. Bob Todd”.  Thinking about it now we could have made up names that would sound funny when shouted out, for example “Mr. Drew Peacock” or “Mr. Dan Gleebles” or “Mr. Arthur Sleep”. Once you were in, the first half hour was a free bar!  Just one condition, you could only order single measures.  No problem, people were going to the bar and ordering a round of 8 single Vodka’s or Bacardi’s, all for themselves. “Would you like a tray Sir?” “Don’t mind if I do, seeing I’ve been lumbered getting drinks for 8 people, ha ha”.  After the drinks reception we all took our place at the table for dinner.  This was the only downside of the party, as you couldn’t choose who to sat with; you were randomly seated with people who were potentially boring, sensible and square, who wanted to talk about work.  At this stage the only free drink was wine on the table, so you drank it even if you didn’t like wine, especially red wine.  After the meal there were some boring speeches, then a break of about half an hour, while they cleared the tables for the dance floor.  From now on the drinks had to be paid for and they were a ridiculous price, something like £1.10 for a pint of Lager. So a group of us went to the pub next to the hotel for about an hour, to get drunk at half the price.  On our return to the party my life was going to change forever.

I was just standing around watching people on the dance floor, when one of my mates, Kevin Doughty, spotted a girl in an electric pink dress with matching earrings, and marched over and started dancing with her. I was thinking “the bastard I was watching her and he’s a married man”. So I stormed over and muscled in on the dance.  I established that her name was Karen and that she’d also indulged in a lot of free booze, which made it much easier to talk to her.  She grabbed my light blue faux leather tie and pulled me towards her.  I think she was drunk, but I took this as her liking me.  We danced for a while and at one point my hand accidentally went in the back of her dress. I awkwardly placed it on her back, maybe checked if she was wearing big knickers!  At the end of the night I asked for her phone number.  Remember this was way pre-mobile phones so I had to settle for her name (Karen Wills) and her phone extension. Outside in the street I was looking for a goodnight kiss, but before I knew it she’d disappeared with some friends to a hotel they were staying in.  I had to make my way to Trafalgar Square to catch the night bus home.
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                           Me and Karen Wills
  
               Dave Morgan, Karen and Keith Wilcox


All night I was thinking what to say when I made that phone call.  Would she even remember me? Had she been dreaming of me all night? Would she avoid me like the plague? (Not that the plague had needed much avoiding since the 15th Century). I did have one stroke of luck, in that the day following the party was a Friday and it was Valentines Day.  So on my way to work I bought a card and some chocolates.  The card had leaves coming down and said “I’m falling for you”, do me a favour! I worked in Elizabethan House which was the Head Office in Holborn, but Karen worked just round the corner in Kingsway in another Mercantile Credit building called Princes House. She worked in Car Leasing Customer Accounts, basically a debt collector.  So I phoned her and she answered after a few seconds.  “Hi it’s Alister from last night”.  There was then a worrying pause, probably while she thought “how much did I drink last night?” Thankfully she did remember me and agreed to meet me for lunch in the canteen.  I waited anxiously outside the canteen for Karen to come out of the lift (alone), preferably still wearing the pink dress to aid identification.  Then suddenly she appeared with half of the Customer accounts department, David Morgan, Keith Wilcox, Jane Saunders, Tom Clucas to name but a few.  Not quite as I’d planned but I managed to have a little chat and more importantly gave her the card and chocolates.  I asked her if she’d like to go out on the Saturday night, but she was busy, but she agreed to drive to my house for tea on Sunday.   This was much more encouraging and she even had her own car (Fiat 126), right result!

Not only did she have her own car, she’d also just bought a house.  This got better all the time!  Karen drove up to my house in Blackheath from her home in Rochester, Kent.  Apparently this was the first time she’d actually driven the car any significant distance so I felt quite honoured. The meeting the parents went well and I dared to believe that I finally had a new girlfriend. Two days later we went on our first date to the cinema in Leicester Square to see “Spies like us” starring Chevy Chase and Dan Aykroyd (you can’t get much more 80’s than that).  I use the word see, but we spent the whole film snogging on the back row.  I don’t think we missed much, as it was one of the most forgettable films of all time.  On our way out of the cinema we came down some stairs to a foyer packed with people waiting to see the next showing of the film.  Someone shouted to me “Was it a good film?” to which I replied “I don’t know, I didn’t see any of it!” which brought a loud cheer of “Waaaaaaaayy!” from the throng of people below.

At the weekend it was my turn to meet Karen’s family.  As I said earlier she lived in Rochester, which wasn’t too far from Blackheath, about 40mins on the train.  I got to Rochester station and Karen met me with a warm embrace, I think she was more nervous about me meeting her family than I was.  They lived right near Rochester High Street, at No.1 Gravel Walk.  It was actually the only house in Gravel Walk, opposite a block of flats.  Karen was from a big family and most still lived at home, only her older sister Kim had moved out.  Her mum and dad (Pam & Don) welcomed me into their house and I met the rest of the Wills family.  She had two younger brothers, Gary and Dean. She also had two younger sisters, Donna and Tara.  I hadn’t been there long when I had an insight into what this, quiet polite family were really like.  Donna got into an argument with her mum and ended up getting a right beating on the stairs, coupled with some choice language.  Because the weather was so bad (heavy snow) I stayed the night.  They had a great second room downstairs, where I slept. It had a proper Pub Pool table, Jukebox, Dart board and even a proper bar with optics.  All this stuff was courtesy of Donna, who worked for Ladbrokes, looking after pub entertainment equipment.  The only thing they didn’t have was a fruit machine, maybe next week.  While I was staying there Karen took me to see her house she’d just bought. It was a terraced house just round the corner in Delce Road.  It was going to be sold in an auction, but Karen’s dad knew the owner and Karen managed to get the house for about £18,000.  To say it needed some work done was an understatement, the place was completely derelict, no gas, electric or water.  Maybe Karen having her own house wasn’t quite as exciting as I first thought.   

It was great working in Central London and having a girlfriend, as there were so many places to go for a night out, right on your doorstep.  One night we went to the Adelphi Theatre to see ‘Me and my Girl’ starring Robert Lindsay (except it was Jim Dale, Carry On actor, the night we went). Another evening a whole group of us went to the Empire Disco in Leicester Square.  There were my two brothers, Valerie, my mate Andy Capon, Karen and her friend Susan Youden.  Charlie tried to chat up Susan, but I don’t think she was too interested. Susan was a nurse and single, but seemed to soon find a boyfriend after the night out with Charlie! 

For my birthday I booked up for me and Karen to go away for the weekend to Bruges in Belgium. Bruges (Dutch: Brugge) is the capital and largest city of the province of West Flanders in the Flemish Region of Belgium.  With all of its canals it was often compared to Amsterdam (without the Porn) and was called ‘The Venice of the North’.  

I didn’t realise until I looked it up recently, that I might be related to a very prominent person in Bruges’ history. Baldwin I (probably born 830s, died 879), aka Baldwin Iron Arm, was the first Count of Flanders. Count Baldwin rose to prominence when he eloped with Princess Judith, daughter of Charles the Bald, king of West Francia. Around Christmas 861, Judith escaped the custody she had been put after her return from England. She fled north with Count Baldwin. Charles had given no permission for a marriage and tried to capture Baldwin. After Baldwin and Judith had evaded his attempts to capture them, Charles had his bishops excommunicate the couple. Judith and Baldwin responded by traveling to Rome to plead their case with Pope Nicholas I. Their plea was successful and Charles was forced to accept. The marriage took place on 13 December 863 in Auxerre.  By 870 Baldwin had acquired the lay-abbacy of St. Pieter in Ghent and is assumed to have also acquired the counties of Flanders and Waas, or parts thereof by this time. Baldwin developed himself as a very faithful and stout supporter of Charles and played an important role in the continuing wars against the Vikings. He is named in 877 as one of those willing to support the emperor's son, Louis the Stammerer. During his life Baldwin expanded his territory into one of the major principalities of Western Francia; he died in 879 and was buried in the Abbey of Saint-Bertin, near Saint-Omer.

Anyway, back to our trip to Bruges. We were staying in a small hotel in the centre of Bruges. We did the usual sightseeing things like, a boat trip along the canals; we also hired bikes to explore Bruges by cycle path.  Bruges' most famous landmark is its 13th-century belfry, housing a municipal carillon comprising 48 bells. A narrow, steep staircase of 366 steps, leads to the top of the 83-metre-high building, which leans about a metre to the east. However the Church of Our Lady with its tower, at 122.3 metres in height, remains the tallest structure in the city and the second tallest brickwork tower in the world.  On our return to our hotel on the Saturday night, there was much excitement as Belgium had just won the Eurovision Song Contest. The winning song "J'aime la vie" was sung by 13-year-old Sandra Kim. Kim was the youngest ever Eurovision winner.  On the Sunday (my 22nd Birthday) after a great weekend, I was overcome with emotion and decided to ask Karen to marry me!   We were sitting on a bench near the town centre when I just blurted out “Will you marry me?”  Karen’s answer was “Don’t be stupid, we’ve only just met”.  Oh well there’s nothing like making a fool of yourself on your birthday. 
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The main square in Bruges

Harry: [about Ray] so he's having a really nice time? Ken: Well, I'm having a really nice time. I'm not sure it's really his cup of tea. Harry: [after a long pause] what? Ken: You know I'm not sure it's really his thing. Harry: What do you mean it's not really his thing? What's that supposed to mean? It's not really his thing. What the f**k is that supposed to mean? Ken: Nothing Harry. Harry: It's a fairytale town, isn't it? How can a fairytale town not be somebody's f**king thing?  How can all those canals and bridges and cobbled streets and those churches and all that f**king beautiful fairytale stuff, how can that not be somebody’s f**king thing, eh? Ken: What I was trying to say was …….  Harry: Are the swans still there? Ken: yeah.  Harry: How can f**king swans not f**king be somebody’s f**king thing, how can that be?

Memorable quote from the movie - In Bruges (2008)
Someone was getting married though.  Karen’s older sister Kim got married to Gary Hoffman on the 24th May.  Obviously the invites had gone out a long time before I met Karen, but I managed to get an invite courtesy of being boyfriend of the Bride’s sister.  The wedding was at a church in a place called Cliffe and the reception was at the Gordon Hotel in Rochester High Street.  By the way Karen did agree to marry me at the second time of asking, however she did give me a big clue that she might say yes this time.

On April 17th my brother David was posted to the Falklands. Not literally, he was sent there by the Army for about four months.  While he was there, there was a fatal helicopter crash and many of the survivors were sent to the BMH (British Military Hospital) where Dave was based.  They had to bleed 50 Blood donors.  16 pints of blood were needed immediately for the pilot, who had to have his leg amputated.  Not long after David returned from the Falklands, Fiona’s husband Russ went there for a four month stint aswell. When Dave wasn’t in The Falklands or Northern Ireland, he was still based in Germany.  However he and Valerie came over in August as Steven went into Queen Elizabeth BMH in Woolwich for an operation to remove his adenoids.  On August 29th Dave and Val returned to Germany, but left Steven with his Auntie Christine on the Isle of Sheppey and Laura with us. They took the wrong suitcase to Germany, the one with Steven’s clothes in.  On leaving Germany for good, Dave and Val returned to England and were posted to Aldershot in Hampshire.

We’d always had loads of visitors wherever we lived, so living in London was asking for trouble. We were basically opening the floodgates for visitors from abroad. Our first visitors of the year were my cousin Frances, from Australia and her husband David Pritchard-Gordon, with their two sons, Bill (nearly 6) and Tim (2).  We took them to visit the Tower of London but it was closed, so we went to Covent Garden and Buckingham Palace.  After lunch we went to the Natural History Museum and Science Museum in South Kensington.

We had more visitors from Australia, my cousin Bob Cann and his wife Lynne. Mum and dad picked them up from Gatwick Airport, and then drove them to Bristol for a reunion with Bob’s brother David Cann, at Vi and Doug’s.  David’s wife Peggy and daughter Deborah (13) were also there. Roger, Dilys and Sally from Wales also came over.  Mum and Dad brought Peggy back to London and a week later Bob and Lynne came to stay.  They certainly knew how to enjoy themselves and seemed to be very rich (must be, this was their second Round the World holiday in 3 years).  One night they went to see ‘Cats’ the musical at the New London Theatre (next to where I worked).  The next day they went to the Pavilion in Brighton and the Queen’s Theatre.  Then the following day it was shopping at Harrods and the Duchess Theatre.  On the Saturday Bob and Lynne went with me and Karen to Leeds Castle in Kent.  On the 9th June, after a week with us, they went back to Bristol. They did come back to visit us on June 26th, having been to South Wales, Ireland, Lake District, Castle Howard and Clovelly in Cornwall, in the meantime.  Our other visitors from abroad were Uncle Len and Auntie Joan from Zimbabwe.  However they didn’t really stay with us for long, as like Bob and Lynne they were always off visiting somewhere else.

Karen’s family wasn’t interested in sport at all, which was the complete opposite to me.  How could anyone not want to watch five days of Test Match cricket, or four days of golf, or two weeks of Wimbledon?  Actually they did like one sport, WWF (American Wrestling), if you could call that a sport.  It seemed that every time I went to visit the whole family were glued to the TV, living every throw and slam as if it were for real.  I didn’t have the heart to tell them it was all (badly) stage managed for entertainment.  They even subscribed to the Pay-Per-view Wrestle Mania, which featured all the stars in an extravaganza of Wrestling.  The main star was Hulk Hogan and other stars included Andre the Giant, Jake ‘the Snake’ Roberts, ‘Macho Man’ Randy Savage, The Ultimate Warrior and The British Bulldogs. 
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      Hulk Hogan
        Andre the Giant    Jake ‘the Snake’     ‘Macho Man’ Randy     the British Bulldogs. 

Thankfully they realised that World Cup football was more important than life or death and would be watching MEXICO 86.  England had again qualified and had a great chance to win the World Cup for the first time in 20 years.  In the group stages England looked to be in trouble after losing 1–0 to Portugal and drawing 0-0 with Morocco. However, in their last group match, a first-half Gary Lineker hat-trick helped them beat Poland 3–0. England progressed to the quarter-finals fairly comfortably when they saw off Paraguay 3–0.  

The quarter-final between Argentina and England was unforgettable because of the two totally different goals scored by Diego Maradona: the first was scored illegally, as he punched the ball into the goal past England goalkeeper Peter Shilton. The referee did not see the foul and the goal was given. After the game, Maradona claimed the goal was scored "A bit with the head of Maradona and another bit with the hand of God"; it came to be known as the "The Hand of God" goal. For his second goal, voted "Goal of the Century", Maradona dribbled half the length of the field past five English players before scoring.  Gary Lineker did get a goal back for England, but Argentina held on to win 2 – 1.  England player Peter Reid was often described as a “Midfield Enforcer” but my abiding memory of him is that of him jogging behind Maradona as he beat half the England team.  In Argentina, the game was not just seen as revenge for the Falklands War but mostly for what they still saw as an unfair game in the 1966 World Cup.  Argentina went on to win the World Cup, while England supporters were left to ponder what might’ve been (again).  At least Gary Lineker finished the tournament winning the "Goldenboot", with 6 goals.
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                   "The Hand of God"





"Goal of the Century"

Another highlight of the 1986 World Cup was the worldwide introduction to the “Mexican Wave”.  The wave was achieved in a packed stadium when successive groups of spectators briefly stand and raise their arms. Each spectator is required to rise at the same time as those straight in front and behind, and slightly after the person immediately to either the right (for a clockwise wave) or the left (for an anticlockwise wave). Immediately upon stretching to full height, the spectator returns to the usual seated position.  The result is a "wave" of standing spectators that travels through the crowd, even though individual spectators never move away from their seats. In the packed stadiums used in Mexico, the wave was able to travel continuously around the arena; in discontinuous seating arrangements, the wave can instead reflect back and forth through the crowd. When the gap in seating is narrow, the wave can sometimes pass through it.   Despite everyone laughing and joking when the wave starts, everyone is really thinking “not that bloody wave again, I’m not going to do it, I’m not going to do it, I’m not going to do it. ………… WHEY, there you go damm!”

At the beginning of July we went on a Baldwin Family vacation.  Charlie was looking after his son, John, while Joanne (his mum) had gone on holiday.  Before our holiday Charlie brought John to stay with us in Blackheath.  We already had Jamie staying, as Fiona and Russ had gone on holiday to Tunisia.  So on Sunday June 29th, when Val brought Steven up for the day, mum and dad had their three grandsons together for the first time. We took them round the corner to Manor House Gardens, near Hither Green, to play in the playground.  A couple of days later Charlie had taken John to Lewisham in his car and somehow managed to lock him in with the keys in the ignition.  Charlie had to get a mechanic to unlock the car with a piece of wire.  

So on July 4th we drove to Wroxham, to start a week’s boating holiday on the Norfolk Broads.  Our Hoseason’s boat was called ‘Bella Riva’ and on board was: Mum and Dad, Fiona, Russ and Jamie, Charlie and John, me and Karen.  We went down the River Bure to Ramworth Broad and moored (parked the boat) by the Maltster Inn for the night.  The next day it rained all day as we made our way to Great Yarmouth.  The following day we left Great Yarmouth continuing down the River Bure.  We went past a boat that had got stuck under a bridge in the rising tide. Unlucky!  We briefly sort of went out to sea then turned into Breydon water and up the River Yare.  We moored at 12:35 hrs by Hardley Hall Cottages, which just so happened to be where Charlie lived.  Mum did some washing, as mums do and we picked some gooseberries.  We moored for the night in Chedgrave.   The following day we reached our outward bound destination, Norwich.  We visited the City and did some shopping.  On our return journey we went on the beach at Great Yarmouth and visited the Broads Conservation Centre at Ranworth. So a week after setting off on our great adventure, we returned to Wroxham by 9am and returned the boat (undamaged). We then drove to Colchester to see Nanna.  We also went to see Barry and Muriel at Hole Farm, where we picked strawberries and raspberries. We also got gooseberries, courgettes, broad beans and spinach. 
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       Charlie, John, me and Karen

         
There wasn’t much time to draw breath before we were off on holiday again. Infact the following day! Karen and I went with Fiona, Russ and Jamie to Germany for a week.  I think I’d forgotten that I actually worked!  While we were in Germany, mum and dad went on a short holiday to Scotland.  I think dad had forgotten that he worked aswell.  The first day they drove 298 miles to stay with one of dad’s old engineering friends, Phil Hanson and his wife Peggy.  The next day they drove another 278 miles to Inverness to stay with Jim and Freda Clark (former next door neighbours, ex. employer). They saw our old cat Becky, who we’d left with the Clark’s when we’d moved from Inverness.  This was turning into a “How many old friends, work acquaintances and old cat’s, can you visit in week”.  The next day they visited Duncan and Evelyn Francey (former neighbours), then had lunch with Ken Wilson (former work colleague) and his wife Jan.  In the afternoon they drove to Kiltarlity to see Sten Ekelund (former work colleague) and his wife Ann. They went to see Ann’s horse at Belladrum Farm.  [Now that’s a bit of a co-incidence as one of my good friends from Inverness, Andy Sarjeant, bought a cottage called Belladrum Kennels, in Kiltarlity, nearly 20 years later.  It must be the same place or next door].  The next day they visited Mrs. Legge (former neighbour) and while mum went shopping, dad visited Don Fraser (former work colleague) at Friars Bridge Site.  In the evening they set off on their journey home and stayed the night in Abernethy nr Perth, with John Robinson (former work colleague) and his wife Diana.  Dad and John went fly fishing on Loch of Butterstone and caught three trout.  On their way home the visited Ann and Geoff (former neighbours, teacher, landlord/landlady) in Great Ayton, then the long drive home to London.  455 miles that day and a total of 1202 miles in 5 days, visited 5 ex. Work colleagues, 4 ex. Neighbours and 1 ex. Cat.

That previous bit is a prime example of how reliant I am on dad’s diary.  I knew great detail of mum and dad’s trip to Scotland and yet I have no recollection of going to Germany with Karen, hence I didn’t write anything about it.  One trip I do remember though, in 1986, was a weekend in Bristol.  One reason I remember this weekend was because of a million to one occurrence.  At work on Thursday 13th November, I had started work on an IT project and was introduced to this woman who was going to be managing the project. I said to her that I wasn’t going to be in on the Friday as I was going away for the weekend.  She said that it was ok as she too was going away for the weekend.  On the Friday Karen and I drove to Bristol to stay with Auntie Vi and Uncle Doug.  On the Saturday we decided to go shopping in the town and as we entered a little shop on a hill, someone coming out opened the door for us.  It was only the woman I’d met in London two days previously.  What are the chances of that?  London – Bristol is 106 miles, not exactly round the corner.  While we were in Bristol I dragged Karen round all the places I remembered as a kid.  We parked outside 69 Southwood Drive (where I was born).  It looked completely different except for the gate, which was the original.  When I was born the house was pebble dashed but now it was all bricks, how could they!  We also stopped outside 56 Station Road and I quickly took some pictures.  If anyone saw me, they’d be very suspicious of someone taking random pictures of a suburban house.  We also went to Bristol Zoo, another place I spent a lot of time as a kid.  Also the Clifton Suspension Bridge, because you can’t visit Bristol without visiting the bridge.  It would be like going to Paris and not visiting the Eiffel Tower, New York and the Statue of Liberty or London and Buckingham Palace.   

1986 was to be a tough time for my beloved Middlesbrough Football Club but would ultimately be the dawn of a new era.  They had been in the 2nd Division for 4 years but the unthinkable was becoming a reality, relegation to Division 3.  Not only that, Boro were in severe financial difficulty.  On April 19th the Chairman, Alf Duffield, announced his resignation saying he was no longer prepared to pour money into the club.  In the summer of 1986 following relegation, Middlesbrough Football Club was within 10 minutes of ceasing to exist.  The club was to be saved by a 26 year old local Businessman called Steve Gibson.  A self-made millionaire, Gibson was born in Middlesbrough and was raised in the tough Park End area of the town. In 1981 he founded Bulkhaul Limited, a company dedicated to the global transportation of bulk liquids, powders and gasses. He set up the company by borrowing £1,000 from his father.  Gibson was a lifelong Middlesbrough fan, having attended matches with future player Chris Kamara (more famous for appearing on Sky Sports News and often known to get overexcited and exclaim "Unbelievable, Jeff!" to host Jeff Stelling) at Ayresome Park as a youngster.  After much red tape and false promises from Middlesbrough Borough Council the Football League finally allowed Boro to stay in existence. A new company was formed to run the club, Middlesbrough Football and Athletic Company (1986). However the gates had been locked at Ayresome Park and Boro had to play their first game of the season at Hartlepool United’s Victoria Ground. On the pitch Manager Bruce Rioch and assistant Colin Todd had a clearout of players but in striker Bernie Slaven they had a Boro legend and the defence of Stephen Pears (Goalkeeper), Gary Parkinson, Tony Mowbray, Gary Pallister and Colin Cooper, only conceded 3 goals in the final 13 games – a run of 10 wins and 3 draws, Boro managed to finish 2nd in the 3rd Division and hence promotion at the first time of asking. 
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          ‘The Gates’                        Ayresome Park

Bernie ‘Legend’ Slaven

My brother Charlie had moved to Norwich in Norfolk and when mum phoned him on October 21st, he told her that he had a Thai girlfriend called Alisa and they were getting married. Charlie brought Alisa to London on November 22nd to meet us all.  She didn’t say much but a lot more than I’d be able to say in Thai.  A couple of weeks later they went to Bangkok for a holiday, but while there they got married!  Not only that, we didn’t find out until the following year.  

We finished off the year with the Baldwin Family descending on the Wills Family in Rochester, for a New Year’s Eve party(or Hogmanay as they say in Scotland). There was me, mum and dad, Fiona, Russ and Jamie.  With a bit of Auld Lang Syne we all welcomed in 1987. 

"Auld Lang Syne"

Should old acquaintance be forgot, and never brought to mind? Should old acquaintance be forgot and old Lang syne?
CHORUS: For auld lang syne, my dear, for auld lang syne, we'll take a cup of kindness yet, for auld lang syne. And surely you’ll buy your pint cup! And surely I’ll buy mine! And we'll take a cup o’ kindness yet, for auld lang syne.

We two have run about the slopes, and picked the daisies fine; but we’ve wandered many a weary foot, since auld lang syne.

CHORUS 

We two have paddled in the stream, from morning sun till dine†; but seas between us broad have roared since auld lang syne.

CHORUS 

And there’s a hand my trusty friend! And give us a hand o’ thine! And we’ll take a right good-will draught, for auld lang syne.

CHORUS 

1986 Facts & Figures

Jan 19th – The first PC virus, Brain, starts to spread.  

Jan 28th - Space Shuttle Challenger disintegrates 73 seconds after launch, killing the crew of 7 
astronauts, including schoolteacher Christa McAuliffe. 

Feb 3rd - Pixar Animation Studios is opened. 

Feb 7th - President Jean-Claude Duvalier ("Baby Doc") flees Haiti, ending 28 years of family rule.

Feb 9th - Halley's Comet reaches its closest point to the Sun, during its second visit to the solar
 system in the 20th Century.

Mar 4th - The Today national tabloid newspaper is launched in the United Kingdom, pioneering the
 use of computer photo setting and full-colour offset printing, at a time when British
 national newspapers still used Linotype machines and letterpress.

Mar 31st - A fire devastates Hampton Court Palace in Surrey, England.

Apr 17th - British journalist John McCarthy is kidnapped in Beirut (released in August 1991).

Apr 26th - In Ukraine, one of the reactors at the Chernobyl nuclear plant explodes, creating the
 world's worst nuclear disaster.

May 25th - Hands Across America: At least 5 million people form a human chain from New York
 City to Long Beach, California, to raise money to fight hunger and homelessness.

July 23rd - Prince Andrew, Duke of York married Sarah Ferguson at Westminster Abbey.

July 28th - Estate agent Suzy Lamplugh vanishes after a meeting in London.

Sep 5th - Pan Am Flight 73, with 358 people on board, is hijacked at Karachi International

 Airport by 4 Abu Nidal terrorists.

Oct 27th - The Big Bang in the London Stock Exchange abolishes fixed commission charges,

 paving the way for electronic trading.

Oct 28th - In London, Jeremy Bamber is found guilty of the murder of his parents, sister and

 twin nephews, and sentenced to life imprisonment.

Nov 22nd - Mike Tyson wins his first world boxing title by defeating Trevor Berbick in Las Vegas.

Hits of 1986, Rock me Amadeus (Falco), Papa Don’t Preach (Madonna), The Final Countdown (Europe), Take my Breath away (Berlin), West End Girls (The Pet Shop Boys),Livin on a Prayer (Bon Jovi) and the big one, Showing Out - Get fresh at the Weekend, (Mel & Kim).

Top Films of 1986 – Top Gun, Crocodile Dundee, Platoon, The Karate Kid Part II, Aliens, and Ferris Bueller’s Day off.

Deaths

Jan 4th –Phil Lynott, lead singer and bassist of Thin Lizzy, died from drug and alcohol abuse,
died
 aged 36. 
Jan 14th - Donna Reed, American actress, died aged 64.

Jan 24th - L. Ron Hubbard, American writer and founder of Scientology, died aged 74. 

Mar 30th - James Cagney, American actor, died aged 86. 

Apr 24th - Wallis Simpson, wife of King Edward VIII of the United Kingdom, later titled "Duke
 of Windsor" due to his abdication, died aged 89.

May 9th - Tenzing Norgay, alias Sherpa Tensing, Nepalese climber, one of the first people to

 reach the summit of Everest, died aged 71.

June 13th - Benny Goodman, American jazz musician, died aged 77.

Aug 31st - Henry Moore, British sculptor, died aged 88.

Nov 29th - Cary Grant, British actor, died aged 82.

Dec 29th - Harold Macmillan, First Earl of Stockton, Prime Minister of the United Kingdom 1957
 – 1963, died aged 92.
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                 Smiley
 
Strike it Lucky
         Sylvanian Families
               Rick Astley


With the wedding getting closer, the race was on to make the house habitable before the big day.  Karen had received a grant from Medway Council for approx. £10k, to cover some basic things like, Electricity (always handy), a roof (also handy) and a kitchen & bathroom, which were to be built onto the end of the house as an extension.  Four rooms in the house had original cast iron fireplaces.  The builders asked me if we wanted to keep them.  Why would I want four fireplaces (worth a small fortune)?  “No take them away and leave me with a hole in the wall”.  Karen’s dad being a Plumber was able to fit a Central Heating System and other essential pipe work.  So this just left us with the dreaded 3-letter word, D-I-Y. 

We started by knocking down the wall between the Hall and the Living Room.  That’s not quite as dramatic as it sounds, as it wasn’t a supporting wall.  Hark at me the building expert!  I’ll be talking about RSJ’s and Phillips screwdrivers before you know it. Taking the wall out left the ceiling in such a state that it all had to come down.  Until the middle of the Twentieth Century most ceilings were made of Lath and Plaster, which involved lots of wood, three layers of lime putty mixture and sometimes animal hair.  What a mess! One hundred years of dust and rubble covered the living room floor.  After it was tidied we set about putting up a new ceiling made of Plasterboard. I enlisted the help of Karen’s brother Gary.  I’d watched the builders replace the bedroom ceilings and tried to use the same theory.  However not very easy, as I got Gary to hold a massive sheet of Plasterboard above his head, while I ran round quickly and tried to put some clout nails through the board and into the joists.  This turned into a very stressful exercise with lots of missed joists and Gary screaming with the pain of holding up the Plasterboard.  The next job was to strip the wallpaper off the walls.  This mainly consisted of at least two layers which had been stuck on with some sort of Victorian Superglue! During the wallpaper stripping big chunks of plaster would come off aswell, leaving a very rough surface.  So instead of putting up new wallpaper, we covered the house with ARTEX ‘The Scourge of the 80’s’.  Every terraced house in the country that was decorated in the 80’s is ‘plastered’ (pardon the pun) with this white slop.  The walls looked like the surface of the moon and the ceilings had all sorts of fancy swirls. 

I even started on a couple of building projects of my own, with my brick feature in the Living Room, being my pride of joy.  I used bricks left over from the extension and built two walls to cover the alcoves in the Living Room.  I then made two wooden shelves to cover the gap and something to put the TV on.  Then the final act was to varnish the bricks (nice touch).  We did have one room properly decorated however, the back bedroom.  The builders had plastered the walls and put in a new ceiling.  Karen’s dad had put the hot water tank in the corner of the room and I built an Airing Cupboard around it.  I covered the wall of the Airing Cupboard with Artex, what else!  However the rest of the room was wallpapered expertly by our new friend.  We’d made friends with a couple who lived two doors down, John & Karen.  I think Karen was a legal secretary or something, but John was a Painter and Decorator.  However unlike most P&D’s, John didn’t have a van, so any jobs he did he had to take all his stuff, including Ladder, on the Train.  That must’ve been a sight to behold.

African Adventure

I’m not going to tell you about Mum and Dad’s holiday in Africa, as they didn’t take me with them. Oh, maybe I’ll tell you a little bit. 

They were off to stay with Uncle Len (mum’s twin Brother) and Auntie Joan, in Zimbabwe.  Len had asked dad to buy a brand new set of ‘Ping’ golf clubs and bring them with him to Harare.  That was not going to do him any favours with the excess baggage!

Zimbabwe

Day 1 – Fri 24th April - Left home at 6pm and took a Taxi all the way to Heathrow. Caught the British Airways Boeing 747 flight BA053 to Harare, departing at 10.10pm (with golf clubs).

Day 2 – Sat 25th April - Landed at Harare Airport at 9.40am, where they were met by Len & Joan who drove them to their home on the North side of Harare.  After lunch Rob Donnelly phoned to say that Debby (my cousin) had a baby son, Gareth Gerard. Len & Joan became Grandparents for the first time. Len took dad to the Horse Racing at Borrowdale Park.

Day 3 - Sun 26th April – Had a ‘Braai’ (Barbecue) in the garden.  Some friends came over, Cliff & Kath Knowles, Ernie and Jackie Noakes (famous sculptress) and Paddy and Wilma Lilford - Powie.

Day 4 – Mon 27th April – Went into Harare to book a trip to South Africa, had lunch at Barbour’s store.  Joan took them to see Debby and baby Gareth in the hospital, also met Rob. My cousin Gary returned from South Africa in the evening.

Day 5 – Tues 28th April – Len took dad to see the Marley Tiles office and works.  Joan took mum and dad to lunch at Royal Harare Golf Club. Visited the Art Gallery and park, and then drove to see Debby at her cottage.

Day 6 – Wed 29th April – Went with Len and Joan via Masvingo to the Great Zimbabwe Hotel. After lunch they walked to the famous Zimbabwe Ruins and went in the Great Enclosure, built 1250 – 1450 AD.

Day 7 – Thurs 30th April – Left the Great Zimbabwe Hotel after breakfast, drove via Kyle Dam and Glen Livet, saw native Kraals and prison gangs in the maize fields, to Masvingo (Fort Victoria). Then back to Harare. 

Day 8 – Fri 1st May – Labour Day holiday in Zimbabwe.  Stayed in Harare, Rob, Debby and the baby came for the day.

Day 9 Sat 2nd May – Flew by Zimbabwe Airlines Boeing 707 to Victoria Falls, staying at the Victoria Falls Hotel.  Dad took a photo of the road /railway bridge over the Zambezi Gorge.  Visited Crocodile Ranch and took Sundowner cruise on Zambezi.  Dad broke his specs. 

Day 10 Sun 3rd May – Visited an African Village with native huts and two witchdoctors.  Then to the famous Victoria Falls and walked through the tropical rainforest.  Later they flew by Viscount 800 to Hwange, to stay at Safari Lodge Hotel, had a sunset safari.

Day 11 Mon 4th May – My 23rd birthday.  To celebrate my birthday they went on a dawn safari.  Saw giraffe, sable, kudu and a crocodile. Their afternoon plane to Kariba was cancelled, so stayed another night at Hwange. On a dusk safari they saw about 75 elephants at a waterhole. Hang on, that’s three safaris in just over a day, not even Jack Bauer crams that much into 24 hours.

Day 12 Tues 5th May – Flew by Viscount to Kariba in the morning, arriving at the Cutty Sark Hotel for lunch.  Took a Siesta cruise on Lake Kariba, where they saw several Hippos in the water. Later in the day they flew back to Harare by Viscount.

Day 13 Wed 6th May – Len drove them into Harare to collect plane tickets to Johannesburg (£350).  Joan took them to see Jackie Noakes’ home and her studio with clay models; her daughter Robyn was helping her. They saw their Serval Cat (African wild cat, which looks a bit like a cheetah), then went to the Harare Sheraton for dinner with Len and Joan.

Day 14 Thurs 7th May – Joan drove them out to the Ewanrigg Botanical Gardens where they saw Scarlet Chested Sunbirds drinking nectar out of Aloe flowers.  In the afternoon they went to the top of Harare Kopje to view the city, went to Gary’s mess for dinner.

Day 15 Fri 8th May – All went in Len’s car to the Eastern Highlands for a long weekend at Troutbeck. They walked round the lovely dam lake, through pine woods.  After dinner, including Trout for everyone, they went to the Montclair Holiday Mountains Casino.  Fancy that being there!  

Day 16 Sat 9th May – At Troutbeck.  Dad ran round the lake before breakfast.  Len and Joan played golf while mum and dad played bowls, and then afterwards drove to World’s View (2250m). After lunch they drove to Nyanga and had a drive in the Rhodes Nyanga National Park.  They had a difficult journey back along the Kworaguza Road. 

Day 17 Sun 10th May – Another walk round the lake at Troutbeck and golf course with Len.  Left Troutbeck at 10am stopping for coffee at the Rhodes Hotel, then lunch at the Pine Tree Inn, Juliasdale.  Back at Harare they called at the Epworth Mission to see the balancing rocks.
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              Mum and Dad at World’s View


       Uncle Len, Mum and baby Gareth
South Africa

Day 18 Mon 11th May – After lunch mum and dad went with Joan and Debby to the airport, and then flew Air Zimbabwe Boeing 707 to Johannesburg, South Africa.  Took the SAA bus to the City Centre and checked into the Victoria Hotel. 

Day 19 Tues 12th May – In the afternoon they went to Gold Reef City on a guided tour.  Their guide, Melva, took them down the Crown Mine.  They saw gold cast in an ingot and the Munt Mint.

Day 20 Wed 13th May – Left Johannesburg at 0845 hrs on the SAR travel bus tour.  There was the driver Leon Schreiber and one other passenger, 82-year old Laird Thomson from New Zealand. Went via Villiers, Harrismith Van Reemen’s Pass to Ladysmith, where they visited Siege Museum, then on to Cathedral Peak Hotel in Drakensburg Mountains.

Day 21 Thurs 14th May – Dad got up early to take photos of the mountain scenery, then after breakfast went with Laird Thomson in a party of eight, for a 2 ½ mile walk to Fern Forest below Cathedral Peak, After dinner they played Bingo in the hotel.

Day 22 Fri 15th May – Left Cathedral Peak , bus stopped at Eastcourt for coffee, then Howick Falls on Umgeni River, lunch in Pietermaritzburg.  After lunch went through the Valley of a Thousand Hills and visited a Zulu village.  Arrived in Durban where they were met by dad’s cousin, Stephanie, who took them to see his Auntie Gwen., later checked into the Albany Hotel in Durban.

Day 23 Sat 16th May – After an early walk to Durban Harbour they were collected by Neil and Lynette and driven to Betty’s (also dad’s cousin) home at Zinkwazi Beach, nr. Darnell.  After lunch they went on the beach with Betty, Neil, Lynette, Grant (7), Ryan (5), Dawn and Peter (4).  

Day 24 Sun 17th May – Back to Zinkwazi Beach where they saw Surfers on the big breakers.

Day 25 Mon 18th May – Betty drove them north from Darnell to the Umfolozi Game Reserve where they rented two huts at Mpila Camp.  Saw Wildebeest, Warthogs and Giraffes at the pool by Bekapanzi hide.  Later they went on a long circular tour and nearly collided with a Giraffe in the dark.

Day 26 Tues 19th May – At Umfolozi they saw a White Rhino before breakfast and dad took photos of another Rhino by the pool at midday. They took another trip on the Sontuli loop road.  

Day 27 Wed 20th May – Betty drove them 194km back to her home at Zinkwazi Beach.  After lunch they drove to Stanger, then to Durban to Aunt Gwen’s. After tea with Gwen they caught the 1800 hrs sleeper train back to Johannesburg.

Day 28 Thurs 21st May – Arrived at Johannesburg Station at 0740 hrs and had breakfast in the station restaurant.  Spent the morning shopping in the city centre, then in the afternoon flew back to Harare, landing at 1947 hrs.  Len met them off the plane and drove them back to their house.
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Umfololzi Game Reserve, South Africa

Back to Zimbabwe

Day 29 Fri 22nd May – Len took them to Ginger Halfpenny’s stables, to see his horses.  They all went to Lavron Bird Garden, then to Mellwaine Dam for lunch.  After lunch they took a long drive into tribal trust land, then Darwendale Dam and back via Inkomo.  They had dinner with Gary, Debby and Gareth at Len and Joan’s.

Day 30 Sat 23rd May – Their last day of the holiday.  Len took them to Borrowdale Park races in the afternoon. ‘Young Man’, Len’s horse in Race 7 refused to leave the starting gate!  Gary called to see mum and dad before they left for Harare Airport.  . Caught the British Airways Boeing 747 flight BA052 to Heathrow, departing at 2100 hrs (without golf clubs).

The Wedding

When it came to choosing my Best Man I didn’t really consult the ‘Best Man Handbook’.  A lot of men choose one of their brothers but I’d got two brothers. A lifelong friend but I’d moved around too much to have a lifelong friend.  Someone you spent 4 years with at University but I didn’t go to University.  So I went for my mate Nigel from work.  I’d not known Nigel that long but I was pleased with my choice and he seemed genuinely chuffed to be asked. I didn’t go away for my stag do, but Nigel organised a pub crawl round Holborn and Covent Garden (well it actually organised itself), for my friends from work.  I somehow managed to get back to mum and dads in Blackheath, catching the last train home (aka The Vomit Comet) from Charing Cross.  Nigel came down to stay with me a couple of days before the wedding and we had another pub crawl Stag do, along Rochester High Street, with Karen’s brothers Dean and Gary.  Remember I was telling you about the Pool table at Karen’s house, well the day before the wedding, me and Nigel played a best of 35 frames pool marathon.  I think I won 18 – 17, but Nigel would probably say the same. 

6th June was D-Day or rather W-Day (Wedding Day).  Nigel stayed with me the night before at 40 Delce Road and Karen stayed at her parent’s house. Nigel and I met mum and dad for lunch at the Crest Hotel near Rochester Airport.  We were also joined by Jim and Freda Clark, who’d come down from Inverness for the wedding. I was getting nervous and wanted to get home to get ready.  I’d never been the most stylish dresser and true to form I hadn’t even bought a new suit for the wedding and it didn’t match Nigel’s either.  I did buy some new shoes though and treated myself to a really smart grey tie.  Obviously I’d tried on the shoes for size, but hadn’t seen the need to try on the tie; it’s a tie it’s going to fit.  Nightmare! It’s less than an hour to the wedding I’ve got dressed, put on the tie and it’s a kid’s tie!  It only goes half way down my shirt.  I frantically scoured the wardrobe for another tie but I had more chance of finding a ‘Lion’ and a ‘Witch’ in that wardrobe, than finding a tie that was remotely suitable for a wedding.  They were either Pin stripe leather ties or had a cartoon character on.  I can just see Karen’s face when she gets to the altar, turns towards me and is confronted by Sylvester and Tweety Pie. I decided to wear an old work tie which was white and had faint red stripes across it.  It was totally unsuitable for a wedding and to add to my woes, had a gravy stain two thirds of the way down.  I’d just have to keep my suit buttoned up all day and evening. 

After all the panic with the tie, I was now stressing out.  We had intended to take a leisurely stroll to the church but now I needed a lift.  This is where my luck started to change.  Karen’s Brother-in-Law, Gary, was my ‘Knight in Shining Armour’, or rather two tone Austin Allegro.  He turned up at the house and he’d gone and put a white ribbon across the bonnet of his car.  That’s not quite as great as it sounds, because the car was an old Austin Allegro and the bonnet was a different colour to the rest of the car.  Anyway it got us to the church on time, where we chatted with the guests who had already arrived.  My Uncle Julian had brought his Camcorder, which was a nice surprise as we hadn’t planned to have it filmed.  From watching the video afterwards, I was able to experience the moment that Karen arrived at the church and her getting out of the wedding car in her Bridal Gown.  Everyone always says what a lovely dress, but to most blokes we’re thinking how much! You’re only going to wear it once. Not that we’d ever say that out loud.  So at 3.30pm I married Karen Ann Wills at St. Margaret’s Church, Rochester, Kent.  We did all the do’s and don’ts, better or worse, richer or poorer and before I knew it, Karen was my awful (I mean lawful) wedded wife.  After signing the register it was outside for the wedding photos.  However we’d chosen the windiest day of all time (not strictly true, see 16th October 1987) to get married.  We stood at the church door and Nigel had to crouch behind Karen holding down her dress.  The photographer took a few action shots of a windswept bride, but we had to admit defeat.  We moved on to the photographers back garden to take the rest of the wedding photos.   Not everyone realised where we’d gone, so all in all the photos were a bit of a disaster. 

Talking of disasters we’d booked the Reception at the Royal Victoria & Bull Hotel in Rochester High Street, but they phoned up a couple of weeks before the wedding to say that we couldn’t have it there because it was the same weekend as the Dickens Festival.  Fortunately Karen’s dad knew a bloke who’d just bought the Roffen Club, a private members club on New Road Rochester.  He said that he could accommodate us for the wedding reception.  The Roffen turned out to be an excellent venue and we had a large room upstairs.  That wasn’t the end of the disasters though. Remember I was telling you it was very windy, well some bright spark had put the 3-tier Wedding Cake on a table near an open window.  A massive gust of wind blew the curtain up in the air, taking out the cake like a Strike at 10-Pin Bowling.  Then for good measure Karen had a drink spilt all over her wedding dress.  The speeches went well though.  Nigel cracked a few jokes and told some funny stories.  One joke was intended to show how tight I was.  “Ages ago I lent Alister £4’ then another £2 a few days later. The other day he came up to me and gave me a poorly sea creature.  I said what’s that?  It’s that ‘Sick Squid’ I owe you.  Ha, Ha!  Karen’s dad then got up and just said that it was the best, Best Man speech he’d ever heard. He can’t have heard many!  I got up and complimented the Bridesmaids and the Bride of course, then in a broad Boro accent said “On behalf of my wife and me, I’d like to thank you all for coming today and all the lovely presents (3 toasters, 2 irons, 3 sets of wine glasses)”.  People who know me now wouldn’t believe the accent.  I’m much more Chatham than Boro now.  E.g. Water – Wart ‘a, Quarterpounder – Corta Panda, How much is it? – Alma Chizzet. 
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            The Happy Couple
                             Tara, Nigel, Alister, Karen, Kim and Donna
Guests from my side of the family:- Grandad and Auntie Barbara, Uncle Julian, Nicholas and Peter, Uncle Stuart, Pam and Bryony, Charlie and Alisa, Dave, Val, Steven and Laura, Fiona, Russ and Jamie, Barry and Muriel Bonner, Jim and Freda Clark. 

On the Tuesday after the wedding we went off on Honeymoon, to Ibiza!  Maybe not the most obvious Honeymoon destination, but we were young and could party with the best of them, I wish!  We were staying in the resort of Playa D’en Bossa, which had one obvious advantage (it was near the Airport) and one obvious disadvantage (it was near the Airport).  It only took 20 mins to transfer from the plane, but you’d have aircraft taking off and landing at all hours of the day and night.  We booked some excursions, one of which was a ‘Beach Party’ with the Club 18 – 30.  We went off on a boat, where the Club Reps got everyone in the mood.  There was a drinking game which involved pouring copious amounts of Sangria down someone’s neck from a distance.  When we arrived at the beach a couple of blokes were so pissed that they were just dumped on the rocks like beached whales.  On the beach most of the girls went topless, not that I really looked, much!  We joined in one of the beach games where you had to drink loads then rest your head on a stick and spin round till you were dizzy, then run down the beach to tag the next person in your team.  This was great fun watching people (us included) make a complete fool of themselves.  The boat journey back was slightly more subdued.  We stayed in Ibiza for ten days and explored some of the Island, going to Ibiza Town, San Antonio and Portinax, which was very picturesque.  The flight home was on a small aircraft where you sat in seats that faced each other. Sitting with us was a real life celebrity, ‘Tommy Steele’.  He was with his entourage, but he took time out to talk to us and even play some practical jokes.  We got home on the Saturday, but after the weekend it was back to reality, i.e. Work. 
For anyone who hasn’t been to Rochester, it’s Charles Dickens mad. Dickens had lived near Rochester in his later life and died (9th June 1870) at his home, Gads Hill Place in Higham.  Rochester High Street is all based on a Dickens theme and there’s even a Charles Dickens Centre.  His Summer Swiss Chalet, where he did a lot of his writing, has been moved from Gads Hill Place to the Charles Dickens Centre.  Just off the High Street, in Crow Lane, is a big mansion called Restoration House, which featured in Dickens Novel, Great Expectations. He used it as a model for Miss Havisham’s, Satis House.  Restoration House had recently been purchased by TV entertainer, ‘Rod Hull’, of Rod Hull and Emu fame.  We would often see him in the local Pizzeria ‘Casa Lina’, minus the Emu!  At the Dickens Festival hundreds of people would converge on Rochester, many dressed in Victorian costume.  They’d have lots of stalls in the High Street, with Morris dancing and live music. The City of Rochester is dominated by two landmarks, Rochester Castle and Rochester Cathedral.  The castle is one of the best preserved Norman Castles in England and the Cathedral is the second oldest (604) recorded Cathedral in England.  Dickens wanted to be buried in Rochester Cathedral but against his wishes he was laid to rest in the Poets' Corner of Westminster Abbey.   
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      Rochester Castle

        Charles Dickens

           Rochester Cathedral
I was still enjoying a good social life at work.  Most of it involved drinking and betting, normally at the same time.  Ben was the ringleader, especially with the betting.  He owned a greyhound called ‘Cockney Hammer’ and he was always at Romford Dogs.  When his dog was running we’d all scurry down to the Mecca Bookmakers next to the office and have a little flutter, surprisingly successful on most occasions.  Mecca had a slogan on the counter “The Customer always comes first”.  For a laugh I went up to the counter and said “I’ll have a fiver on the Customer please”.  Not sure they saw the funny side.  One day in the office Ben had been studying the Racing Post and had noticed a money making opportunity.  Corals were offering the odds quoted in the paper for certain Greyhound races.  Ben had been tipped off about this particular dog which was priced at 20/1 in the paper.  It would start at a much lower price.  He gave me a Tenner to back it at 20/1 (£5 Each Way).  A few of us bet £1 or £2 each way.  However I got to Corals and they refused take the bet at 20/1 and only offered 4/1.  I panicked and took 4/1 on all our bets.  When I got back to the office Ben was having none of it and after the dog romped home, he frog marched me down to the bookies.  He let me try to get 20/1 but they refused to change the odds and gave me about £60 in winnings.  After a little gentle persuasion from Ben and a call to Head Office, we left with over £300.  In the summer we would have little jaunts to Sandown and Kempton for the evening Horse Racing and regular trips to Walthamstow ‘The Stow’, Romford or Wimbledon Dogs.    

Our social life did have some sporting activities thrown in.  A group of us had set up a sort of Tennis League which we played at the Tennis Courts in Lincoln Inn Fields (just the other side of Kingsway).  John Holland fancied himself as the best player and was quite dismissive of any credible opposition.  So you can imagine his mood when I hatched a cunning plan to beat him.  I just had to make sure I got the ball in the court and John did the rest.  I would set up a tempting shot which he tried to smash into the court!  However the more he missed the harder he tried to hit it until it got to the stage where all I had to do was hit and duck!  We had to make sure we finished by dusk though, as Lincoln Inn Fields turned into Cardboard City after dark.  The tramps would use the Tennis Courts to rest their cardboard boxes against.  In the Summer I would also play Tennis at lunchtime and on one of these occasions I suffered one of my worse sporting injuries.  It was a hot sunny day and I was playing against Nigel, while Karen read her book on a park bench.  I was serving right into the sun and when Nigel hit his reply straight back at me; I saw it too late and just tried to fend off the ball.  I did avoid a ball in the face, but somehow managed to whack myself with the side of the racquet.  I called Karen over to check the damage, but she said it was just a little cut! A little cut that was gushing blood all over my white shirt.  I decided to catch a taxi to University College Hospital for a second opinion.  I was seen straight away because of all the blood and they proceeded to put 5 stitches above my left eye.   
Another sport we played was 5-a-side football.  Every so often there would be a Mercantile Credit 5-a-side tournament.  At one such tournament in 1987, our team battled through to the Semi Final, only to lose to a disputed goal where the goal scorer stepped into our box, but the goal stood. We consoled ourselves with a few pints in the bar.   

[image: image56.jpg]





      (Front clockwise) Tony Anderson, Andy Gruber, Kevin Doughty, me
BBC Weather Man, Michael Fish, Thursday 15th October 1987 – “Earlier on today, apparently a woman rang the BBC and said she heard that there was a Hurricane on the way.  Well if you’re watching, don’t worry there isn’t, but having said that, actually the weather will become very windy, but most of the strong winds incidentally will be down over Spain and across into France.” 
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Karen and I had booked the day off work on Friday 16th October, as we were going to Blackpool for the weekend with her sister Donna and her boyfriend Chris Hope, to see the Blackpool illuminations.  We had an early night as we were leaving at the crack of dawn.  Just watched the BBC news and checked the weather forecast, bit windy, but nothing to worry about.  In the middle of the night I was awoken by what sounded like the end of the world, not that I knew what the end of the world sounded like.  I peeked through the curtains and all sorts were flying past the window, I’m sure I saw Dorothy and Toto on their way to Kansas.  We just sat there for ages watching this amazing spectacle.  Then all of a sudden, this huge section of the old city wall, just collapsed into the road in front of our house.  By daybreak the winds had moved on and I went out to inspect the damage.  We were quite lucky; only one ridge tile had come off the roof.  It must’ve been a huge tunnel of wind, as the same tile had come off three houses in a row.  I went into the back garden and realised that we’d left some washing on the line.  Most of it had blown away, but fortunately a patchwork quilt that my mum had made us as a wedding present, had wrapped itself round a big tree in the neighbours garden.  I walked into Rochester to see what devastation had been caused.  There were trees uprooted all over the place, none more so than in the Vines Gardens.  The avenue of Plane trees through the centre of the park was badly damaged in the Storm. However this led to the creation of the park's most spectacular feature. The trunk of one of the damaged trees was left rooted in the ground and carved with a chainsaw into the shape of a monk (obviously this was done at a later date, they hadn’t done it by the time I got down there that morning).

Thanks to the hurricane, our early start to drive to Blackpool was badly disrupted.  The main roads out of Kent were all blocked by fallen trees.  However at about 5pm we decided to set sail.  By this time the main routes had been cleared and we were able to make good progress.  It soon became apparent that the ‘Great Storm’ of 1987 hadn’t hit the whole country, just the South and South East. It was late by the time we arrived in Blackpool and we still had to find somewhere to stay.  Even though it was the middle of October, the Blackpool Illuminations attracted lots of visitors; hence a lot of B&B’s said ‘NO VACANCIES’.  We were getting desperate when we knocked on a door and the Landlady said she had one Family room available.  We had to take it.  So Karen and I being the old married couple drew the short straw and had to sleep in the Bunk Beds.  In the morning we had a good old fashioned full English breakfast, to set us up for the day.  We walked along the Golden Mile and went on some of the rides and rollercoaster’s.  In the evening I booked tickets to see Roy “Chubby” Brown at the Pier theatre.  He was hilarious, but what you might describe as highly offensive!  Another problem was his strong Middlesbrough accent.  Poor Karen couldn’t understand a word he was saying, so I had to act as a translator.  Consequently a lot of the jokes got ‘Lost in Translation’, or Karen got the punch line 30 seconds after everyone else.  On our way home we stopped for Sunday Lunch in the Spa town of Buxton in the Peak District.  We were all stuffed after our big lunch, but when the dessert trolley came round none of us could resist the Raspberry Pavlova and I couldn’t resist saying in my best Scottish accent “Is that a Doughnut or a m’rang?” 
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          Chris’s Helicopter seems to have shrunk
       Donna, Chris and Karen “Blackpool Illuminations”     

[image: image61.jpg]






       Me as an Astronaut on Blackpool Pleasure beach

Every year, for some reason work allowed us to finish at 11 am on Christmas Eve.  Now that was just asking for trouble!  Nowadays most people would go straight home, if they were working at all.  However the 80’s was a completely different culture. Everyone would be in work and everyone would head straight to the pub at 11.  We were spoilt for choice in Great Queen Street with ‘The George’ effectively part of the building, ‘The Sugar Loaf’ at the other end of the road, ‘The Newton’ just behind the building and several more pubs in a 200 yard radius.  We would basically be drinking from about 11am to 5pm, with a packet of peanuts for lunch!  This particular year I got really drunk and was slumped against the wall outside the ‘Sugar Loaf’.  John Holland said to me “Come on have another drink”.  I refused several times, but he wouldn’t take no for an answer.  So he literally dragged me out of the gutter and into the pub.  I still tried to explain that I didn’t want any more to drink, but he got me a pint.  I took the pint and without hesitation poured it over his head!  I think he got the message and I think I was lucky not to get a punch on the nose.  After this I decided to go and find Karen who would no doubt be in a similar state with her work colleagues.  

So that brings me to the end of my journey from Birth to Bridegroom. Someone asked me the other day “What’s been the best day of your life?” I answered “The day I got married”.  “What’s been the worst day of your life?”  “Every day since is a tie!” 

1987 Facts & Figures

Jan 20th – Terry Waite, the special envoy of the Archbishop of Canterbury in Lebanon, is

 kidnapped in Beirut (released November 1991).

Feb 11th - British Airways is privatised and listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Feb 23rd - Supernova 1987A, the first "naked-eye" supernova since 1604, is observed.

Mar 6th – Zeebrugge Disaster.  180 passengers were killed when the Townsend Thoresen cross-
channel ferry, Herald of Free Enterprise, rolled over and sank a mile outside the Belgian
 port. The bow doors had been left open enabling water to pour into the car deck. 

Apr 19th - The Simpsons cartoon appears for the first time, on The Tracy Ullman Show.

May 8th - U.S. Senator Gary Hart drops out of the running for the Democratic presidential

 nomination, amid allegations of an extramarital affair with Donna Rice.

May 11th - Klaus Barbie goes on trial in Lyon for war crimes committed during World War II.

June 11th - UK General Election, 1987: Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher wins for the third time
 with a landslide majority.

July 3rd - Greater Manchester Police recover the body of 16-year-old Pauline Reade from

 Saddleworth Moor, after her killers Ian Brady and Myra Hindley helped them in their
 search, almost exactly 24 years since Pauline was last seen alive.

July 27th - Australian singer Kylie Minogue releases her first hit, a remake of Little Eva's The
 Loco-Motion.

July 31st - Docklands Light Railway, the first driverless railway in Great Britain, is formally

 opened by Queen Elizabeth II.

Aug 19th – Hungerford Massacre: Gunman, 27-year-old Michael Robert Ryan, armed with two

 semi-automatic rifles and a handgun, shot and killed sixteen people including his mother,
 and wounded fifteen others, then fatally shot himself.

Oct 15th & 16th – Great Storm of 1987, Hurricane-Force winds hit much of Southern England,

 killing 23 people.

Oct 19th – Black Monday: Stock Market levels on Wall Street and around the world crashed. The
 Dow Jones fell 508 points, wiping 22.5 per cent off share values.

Oct 23rd - Champion jockey Lester Piggott is jailed for three years after being convicted of tax
 evasion.

Nov 8th - Enniskillen bombing: Eleven people were killed by a Provisional IRA bomb at a

 Remembrance Day service at Enniskillen

Nov 18th – A fire in King’s Cross Underground station leaves 31 people dead. 

Nov 18th - Iran-Contra affair: U.S. Senate and House panels release reports charging President
 Ronald Reagan with 'ultimate responsibility' for the affair. 

Dec 8th - The Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces Treaty is signed in Washington, D.C. by U.S.
 President Ronald Reagan and Soviet leader Mikhail Gorbachev.

Dec 9th – Microsoft releases Windows 2.0.

Dec 20th - The passenger ferry MV Doña Paz sinks after colliding with the oil tanker Vector 1 in
 the Tablas Strait in the Philippines, killing more than 1,500.

Hits of 1987,   La Bamba (Los Lobos), Never gonna give you up (Rick Astley), I wanna dance with somebody - who loves me (Whitney Houston), It’s a sin (The Pet Shop Boys), with or without you (U2).

Top Films of 1987 – Three Men and a Baby, Fatal Attraction, Beverly Hills Cop II, Good Morning Vietnam, The Untouchables, Dirty Dancing, Stakeout, Lethal Weapon.

Deaths

Feb 2nd – Alistair MacLean, British Writer, aged 64. 
Feb 4th – Wladziu Valentino Liberace, American Entertainer and Pianist, died of AIDS, aged 67.

Feb 22nd – Andy Warhol, American Artist, Director, Writer, aged 58.

Mar 2nd – Randolph Scott, American Actor, aged 89.

Mar 28th – Patrick Troughton, English Actor, the second Doctor Who, aged 67.

May 14th – Rita Hayworth, American Actress, aged 68.

June 6th – Fulton MacKay, Scottish Actor, Mr. MacKay in Porridge, aged 64.

June 22nd – Fred Astaire, American Actor and Dancer, aged 88. 

Aug 17th - Rudolf Hess, Nazi Deputy Führer, aged 93.

Aug 28th – John Huston, American Actor and Filmmaker, aged 81.

Aug 29th – Lee Marvin, American Actor, aged 63.

Nov 5th – Eamonn Andrews, Irish Television Presenter of This is your Life, aged 64.
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